Craniofacial Morphology in Children With Obesity or Down Syndrome With and Without Obstructive Sleep Apnea

by

Dr. Corey Hoy Bok Ng

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Master of Science Orthodontics

> Faculty of Dentistry University of Toronto

© Copyright by Dr. Corey Hoy Bok Ng 2018

Craniofacial Morphology in Children With Obesity or Down Syndrome With and Without Obstructive Sleep Apnea

Dr. Corey Hoy Bok Ng

Master of Science Orthodontics

Faculty of Dentistry University of Toronto

2018

Abstract

Introduction: Obstructive Sleep Apnea (OSA) is common in children. Risk factors include adenotonsillar hypertrophy, obesity, and craniofacial abnormalities (e.g. Down Syndrome, DS). The aim was to describe the craniofacial morphology in children with suspected OSA referred for polysomnography (PSG) in 2 cohorts: DS and obesity.

Methods: Cross-sectional study of children with DS or obesity referred for PSG at SickKids, Toronto. Orthodontic examinations, PSG, lateral cephalograms, and sleep questionnaires were completed.

Results: 42 children (20 DS, 22 obese) aged 5-18 (11.9 \pm 3.6) were included. DS with OSA (Obstructive-Apnea-Hypopnea-Index (OAHI) >1) had increased palatal depth (p=0.04); OAHI was correlated with intercanine distance (r=0.48, p=0.03). ANB angle was increased in Obesity with OSA (p=0.03); OAHI was correlated with ANB (r=0.58, p<0.01) and upper incisor retrusion (r= -0.53, p=0.01).

Conclusions: OSA in children with DS is associated with maxillary dimensions. Upper incisor position and maxillo-mandibular relationships are associated with OSA in children with Obesity.

Acknowledgements

I am very grateful and thankful for each of the following people for their contributions to my orthodontic education and training, as each one of you has added to my personal and professional development over the past 3 years.

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Reshma Amin and Dr. Bryan Tompson, and my committee member, Dr. Sunjay Suri for their continual guidance and encouragement to complete this project in a timely and successful manner.

I would also like to thank the sleep technologists at the SickKids sleep lab for allowing me to interrupt their nightly routine and conduct my research. Karen Ellul, thank you for being available early in the morning to take the lateral cephalograms.

Thank you to my orthodontic co-residents Aaron, Chelsea, and Jeff. I couldn't have asked for better people to share this journey with as the past 3 years have been filled with many enjoyable and memorable moments.

To my parents Linda and Paul, and my brother Ryan, thank you for your infinite patience and support throughout my entire educational journey to becoming an orthodontist. Lastly, I would like to thank my beautiful fiancé, YouRee. I would not have been able to do this without your endless love and support.

iii

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Abbreviations	vi
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	ix
List of Appendices	x
Chapter 1: Background & Introduction	1
1.1 Obstructive Sleep Apnea	1
1.2 Epidemiology of OSA	3
1.3 Obesity	4
1.4 Down Syndrome	5
1.5 Pathophysiology of OSA	6
1.5.1 Upper Airway Anatomy	7
1.5.2 Upper Airway Collapsibility	9
1.5.3 Inflammation	11
1.6 Obesity and OSA	
1.7 Down Syndrome and OSA	15
1.8 Complications of Pediatric OSA	16
1.8.1 Behavioural and Neurocognitive Complications	16
1.8.2 Cardiovascular Complications	17
1.8.3 Somatic Growth Impairment	17
1.8.4 Quality of Life and Healthcare Resource Utilization	
1.9 Diagnosis	
1.9.1 Signs and Symptoms	19
1.9.2 Questionnaires	
1.9.3 Polysomnography	
1.9.4 Cephalometric Measurements and OSA	
1.10 Pediatric OSA Treatment	
1.10.1 Adenotonsillectomy	

1.10.2 Noninvasive Positive Airway Pressure
1.10.3 Orthodontic Treatment
1.11 OSA and Craniofacial and Dentofacial Development
1.13 Study Rationale
1.14 Study Aim
Chapter 2: Methods and Materials
2.1 Study Design
2.2 Study Population and Participants
2.3 Study Procedures
2.3.1 Demographic and Anthropometric Measures
2.3.2 Sleep Questionnaires
2.3.3 Clinical Orthodontic Examination
2.3.4 Polysomnogram
2.3.5 Lateral Cephalogram
2.4 Statistical Analysis
2.5 Study Outcomes
2.6 Hypothesis
Chapter 3: Results
3.1 Study Participants
3.2 Clinical Orthodontic Examination Results
3.3 Polysomnography Results
3.4 Lateral Cephalometric Results
3.5 Intra-Class Correlation Coefficient
3.6 Sleep Questionnaire Results
Chapter 4: Discussion
Chapter 5: Conclusion
Appendix A
Appendix B
Bibliography

List of Abbreviations

SDB: Sleep Disordered Breathing AAP: American Academy of Pediatrics **OSA:** Obstructive Sleep Apnea **PSG:** Polysomnography ICSD: International Classification of Sleep Disorders AHI: Apnea-Hypopnea Index OAHI: Obstructive Apnea-Hypopnea Index BMI: Body Mass Index GH: Growth Hormone DS: Down Syndrome CT: Computerized Tomography MRI: Magnetic Resonance Imaging AT: Adenotonsillectomy Pcrit: Pharyngeal Critical Pressure EMG: Electromyography CysLTs: Cysteinyl Leukotrienes **CRP: C-Reactive Protein** CHAT: Childhood Adenotonsillectomy Trial **CPAP:** Continuous Positive Airway Pressure ADHD: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder **PPV: Positive Predictive Value NPV: Negative Predictive Value PSQ:** Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire SRBD: Sleep-Related Breathing Disorders EEG: Electroencephalography EOG: Electrooculography **PAP:** Positive Airway Pressure FMA: Frankfort Mandibular Plane Angle **BPAP: Bi-level Positive Airway Pressure RME:** Rapid Maxillary Expansion CBCT: Cone-Beam Computed Tomography IOTN: Index of Orthodontic Treatment Need SaO₂: Oxygen Saturation TcCO₂: Transcutaneous Carbon Dioxide EtCO2: End-tidal Carbon Dioxide AASM: American Academy of Sleep Medicine **REM:** Rapid Eye Movement ICC: Intra-Class Correlation Coefficient

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Common Signs and Symptoms of Pediatric OSA

Table 1.2 Common Cephalometric Landmarks

Table 2.1 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Table 2.2 Frontal View Examination

Table 2.3 Profile View Examination

Table 2.4 Tonsil Size and Mouth Breathing

 Table 2.5 Intra-Oral Examination

Table 2.6 PSG Recording Variables

 Table 2.7 Cephalometric Measurements

 Table 3.1 Demographic Information for the Study Cohort

Table 3.2 The Frequency of Clinical Features of the DS Group

Table 3.3 The Frequency of Clinical Features of the Obesity Group

Table 3.4 Clinical Examination Measurements for the DS Group

Table 3.5 Clinical Examination Measurements for the Obesity Group

Table 3.6 The Correlation Between Clinical Examination Measurements and OAHI for the DS

 Group

Table 3.7 The Correlation Between Clinical Examination Measurements and OAHI for the

Obesity Group

Table 3.8 PSG Recording Measurements for the DS Group

Table 3.9 PSG Recording Measurements for the Obesity Group

 Table 3.10 Cephalometric Measurements for the DS Group

 Table 3.11 Cephalometric Measurements for the Obesity Group

Table 3.12 The Correlation Between Cephalometric Measurements and OAHI for the DS Group

Table 3.13 The Correlation Between Cephalometric Measurements and OAHI for the Obesity

 Group

Table 3.14 Intra-Class Correlation Coefficient for all 22 Cephalometric Measurements Recorded4 Months Apart

Table 3.15 Contingency Table for the Sqruyt and Gozal Questionnaire and the Diagnosis ofOSA for the DS Group

Table 3.16 Contingency Table for the Sqruyt and Gozal Questionnaire and the Diagnosis ofOSA for the Obesity Group

Table 3.17 Contingency Table for the SRBD Scale of the PSQ and the Diagnosis of OSA for theDS Group

Table 3.18 Contingency Table for the SRBD Scale of the PSQ and the Diagnosis of OSA for theObesity Group

Table 3.19 The Correlation Between Questionnaire Scores and OAHI for Each of the DS and

 Obesity Cohorts

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 The Correlation between Intercanine Distance (mm) and OAHI for the DS Group

Figure 3.2 The Correlation between ANB Angle and OAHI in the Obesity Group

Figure 3.3 The Correlation between Upper Incisor to NA Plane (mm) vs. OAHI in the Obesity Group

Figure 3.4 ROC Curve for Spruyt & Gozal Questionnaire for screening OSA in the DS Group

Figure 3.5 ROC Curve for Spruyt & Gozal Questionnaire for screening OSA in the Obesity Group

Figure 3.6 ROC Curve for SRBD scale of the PSQ for screening OSA in the DS Group **Figure 3.7** ROC Curve for SRBD scale of the PSQ for screening OSA in the Obesity Group

List of Appendices

Appendix A	Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire: Sleep-Disordered Breathing Subscale
Appendix B	Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire

Chapter 1: Background & Introduction

Sleep disordered breathing (SDB) is a broad term describing a spectrum of clinical abnormalities in gas exchange, respiratory pattern, and sleep architecture during sleep of varying severity.¹ The mildest form of SDB is habitual or primary snoring which is defined by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) as "snoring without obstructive apnea (see definition below), frequent arousals from sleep, or gas exchange abnormalities".² On the other end of the spectrum, the most severe form of SDB is obstructive sleep apnea (OSA). OSA is the most common form of SDB, affecting 1.2-5.7% of healthy children.³

1.1 Obstructive Sleep Apnea

The American Thoracic Society defines OSA as a "disorder of breathing during sleep characterized by prolonged partial upper airway obstruction and/or intermittent complete obstruction (obstructive apnea) that disrupts normal ventilation during sleep and normal sleep patterns".⁴ OSA in children was first described by Guilleminault in 1976 using polysomnography (PSG) and clinical symptoms.⁵ Subsequent research has led to an increased recognition of abnormal breathing during sleep and the development of many classification systems including the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD), which was first published in 1990.⁶ The ICSD was further revised in 2005 (Second Edition) and 2014 (Third Edition).^{7,8} The understanding of OSA and its pathophysiology in children has improved and the relationship between respiratory abnormalities and adverse consequences will be further discussed, highlighting the importance of early diagnosis. OSA is a common condition in children of all ages and can result in severe complications and morbidity if left untreated, which include cardiovascular disease, neurocognitive deficits, behavioural problems, and growth disturbances. The gold standard for diagnosis of OSA in adults and children is an overnight PSG, which records sleep architecture, respiratory events, cardiac rhythm, muscle activity, gas exchange, and snoring.⁹ One of the more important measurements from a PSG montage which is used to define the presence and severity of OSA is the apnea-hypopnea index (AHI), which is defined as the number of apneas and hypopneas per hour of total sleep time. Another important measurement is the obstructive apnea-hypopnea index (OAHI). An obstructive apnea in children is scored when there is a drop in the peak airflow \geq 90% of baseline, with the drop lasting at least the duration of two breaths during baseline breathing and is associated with the presence of respiratory effort throughout the entire period of absent airflow.¹⁰ An obstructive hypopnea is scored in children when the drop in peak airflow is \geq 30% of pre-event baseline, for the duration of at least two breaths in association with either \geq 3% oxygen desaturation or an arousal.¹⁰

Diagnostic criteria for OSA among adults (individuals \geq 13 years of age) is defined as having an AHI \geq 5 on nocturnal PSG and evidence of disturbed sleep, daytime sleepiness, or other daytime symptoms.¹¹ The diagnostic criteria for childhood OSA is inconsistent across studies, however, an AHI threshold value of more than 1 to 5 per hour is commonly used to define the presence OSA in children.¹¹ The International Classification of Sleep Disorders -Version 3 (ICSD-3) classifies pediatric OSA as the presence of an OAHI > 1/hour.⁸

1.2 Epidemiology of OSA

Depending on the specific OAHI threshold used for diagnosis of OSA, the estimated prevalence rates of OSA in healthy children range from 1.2% to 5.7%.¹²⁻¹⁴ According to these prevalence rates, it can be estimated from the 2016 Census of Canada population counts that between 94,389 and 448,346 Canadian children aged 0-19 years are affected by OSA.

It is likely that both genetic and environmental factors play a role in the development of OSA. Children between the age of 2 and 8 years are at an increased risk of OSA because of the peak in adenotonsillar hypertrophy.¹³ Children outside of this age range are likely to have additional or other underlying etiologic factors such as obesity and/or craniofacial anomalies that predispose them to the development of OSA.¹²⁻¹⁵ Craniofacial anomalies that can increase the risk of OSA include syndromes that involve midface hypoplasia (Pierre-Robin Sequence, Crouzon syndrome, Down syndrome), increased body-mass index (Prader-Willi syndrome), and absolute or relative macroglossia (Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome, Down syndrome).¹⁶ Obesity results in fat deposition in the upper airway resulting in upper airway narrowing and increased collapsibility; in addition, truncal obesity decreases chest wall compliance and functional residual capacity.¹⁷

OSA is more common in men than women in adult populations. In contrast, childhood OSA has been reported to occur equally between boys and girls.^{15,18,19} However, Lumeng and Chervin reported that SDB is more common among boys and overweight/obese children.¹¹ It has been described that OSA is more prevalent among African American children compared to Caucasian children and may be due to underlying low socio-economic status.^{11,16} Furthermore, Asians have been shown to have more severe OSA compared to matched Caucasians due to

increased esophageal pressures and certain craniofacial features such as micrognathia, retrognathia, and long face syndrome .²⁰

1.3 Obesity

An overweight child is defined as having a Body Mass Index (BMI) that is at or above the age and sex specific 85th percentile but below the 95th percentile, based on the 2000 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention growth charts.²¹ Obesity is defined as a BMI at or above the age and sex specific 95th percentile based on the same growth charts.²¹ There is an increasing trend in childhood obesity and the condition is becoming more prevalent worldwide. The prevalence of childhood obesity among Canadian children and adolescents aged 3-19 years increased from 5% in 1978 to 13.5% in 2004.^{22,23} The most recent report of the prevalence of overweight and obese Canadian children has shown a decrease between 2004 and 2013 from 31% to 27%.²³ However, there has been an increase in prevalence of severe obesity among American children and adolescents between 1999 and 2016.²⁴

Obesity in children and adolescents is becoming more recognized as a serious medical condition and public health problem that affects nearly every major organ system.²² Many hospitals are implementing programs that focus on education, healthy living, and weight management services to combat both the short-term and long-term effects on physical and mental health. Despite considerable clinical and policy efforts, there is no evidence of a statistically significant change in obesity prevalence in any age group.²⁵

Children with obesity aged 5-17 years are more likely to have risk factors for cardiovascular disease as compared to non-obese matched controls, with 70% having at least one risk factor, such as high cholesterol or high blood pressure.²⁶ Furthermore, children and

adolescents with obesity are at greater risk for OSA, bone and joint problems, and social and psychological problems.²⁷ Children with obesity are more likely to be obese as adults with higher risk of developing cardiovascular disease, Type 2 diabetes, stroke, several types of cancer, and osteoarthritis.²⁸⁻³⁰

Craniofacial morphology differs between obese and non-obese adolescents as shown on lateral cephalometric radiographs.³¹ Growth hormone (GH) secretion is reduced in obese individuals but despite this reduction, pre-pubertal obese children exhibit normal or increased height.^{31,32} The factors that regulate craniofacial growth and development include genetics, hormones, environmental pressures, and epigenetic factors and any disturbance can cause a change in normal craniofacial growth.^{33,34} Past cephalometric studies have shown that patients with GH deficiency have a small anterior and posterior cranial base size, a small posterior face height, and a small posterior mandibular height. However, more recent studies have shown that obese adolescents have increased craniofacial growth, resulting in significantly larger mandibular and maxillary dimensions compared to non-obese adolescents.^{31,35} Obesity was also associated with bimaxillary prognathism and relatively greater facial measurements.³¹

1.4 Down Syndrome

Down Syndrome (DS) or Trisomy 21 is a genetic disorder that was first described by John Langdon Down in 1866.³⁶ DS is the most common aneuploidy of autosomal chromosomes, which involves chromosome number 21, and occurs in approximately 1 in 1000 births.³⁷ Individuals with DS present with a number of comorbidities affecting the respiratory, cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, hematological, immune, endocrine, musculoskeletal, renal and genitourinary, and neurological systems.³⁶ Although clinical anomalies affect many of these

systems, the most common reasons for hospitalization of children with DS are respiratory disorders and congenital heart malformations.³⁷

DS individuals have many characteristic craniofacial and physical abnormalities. DS children are commonly brachycephalic, have downward slant of the eye lids medially, epicanthal folds, hypertelorism, and a flat nasal bridge.^{36,38} Conductive hearing loss and chronic otitis media are common in this population.³⁹ Intraorally, features commonly found in DS individuals include a fissured tongue, relative macroglossia, microdontia, hypodontia, anterior open bite, periodontitis, negative overjet, delayed eruption of teeth, angular cheilitis, and ankyloglossia.^{38,40,41}

Based on lateral cephalograms, Suri *et al.* reported that when compared to controls, DS children had altered craniofacial morphology and dental relationships. Skeletally, DS children had a more obtuse cranial base angle, reduced alveolar height in the maxilla and mandible, decreased maxillary length and anterior maxillary dimensions, maxillary retrusion, decreased mandibular ramus, body, and symphyseal dimensions.⁴² Dentally and facially, DS children were found to have more proclined and undererupted maxillary incisors, undererupted lower incisors, increased tendency for anterior open bite, forward rotation of maxillary and mandibular planes, overclosure, and relative mandibular prognathism.⁴²

1.5 Pathophysiology of OSA

An obstructive apnea or hypopnea occurs when the patency of the upper airway is partially or completely obstructed, resulting in partial or complete collapse of the upper airway.⁴³ OSA appears to be a result of a combination of structural as well as functional factors. The patency of the upper airway is determined by a balance between the collapsing forces from the

intraluminal negative pressure of the airway and the dilating forces from the soft tissue structures that provide support for the upper airway.^{16,44} These forces are affected by factors such as upper airway anatomy, neuromuscular tone and collapsibility, and upper airway inflammation.⁴⁵

1.5.1 Upper Airway Anatomy

The upper airway is comprised of muscles and soft tissues, but it lacks any rigid or bony support. As a result, the cross-sectional area of the upper airway is dependent on the luminal pressure and the activity of the pharyngeal dilator muscles.⁴³ The upper airway contains a collapsible portion that extends from the hard palate to the larynx. To allow for normal function and everyday tasks such as swallowing and speaking, the upper airway is able to change its shape and temporarily close. However, due to the lack of rigid support, the upper airway is vulnerable to collapse during sleep.

Studies using computerized tomography (CT) on awake patients with OSA showed that there was reduced cross-sectional area in the nasopharynx, oropharynx, and/or hypopharynx.⁴⁶ More recently, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has been used to describe structural risk factors for OSA in children.⁴⁷ Children with OSA have a smaller oropharynx, larger adenoids, tonsils, and retropharyngeal nodes compared to control subjects.⁴⁸ In terms of the dimensions of the mandible as determined by MRI, Schiffman *et al.* showed that a smaller mandible is not a feature in children with OSA.⁴⁹ Furthermore, analysis of MRIs have revealed that the upper airway in children with OSA is the most restricted where the adenoids and tonsils overlap and that the upper airway is most restricted throughout the initial two-thirds of its length.⁵⁰ The tonsils and adenoids grow progressively during childhood and are largest in relative size at the age of 12, but then gradually involute by adolescence and adulthood.³ In addition to enlarged

adenoids and tonsils, the upper airway in children with OSA is further restricted by a larger soft palate.⁵¹ The first line of treatment for children with adenotonsillar hypertrophy is surgical management which has been shown to reduce symptoms and improve quality of life and PSG findings.⁵² However, adenotonsillar hypertrophy is only one of the potential anatomical determinants of OSA in children, as a high percentage of patients suffer from persistent OSA despite adenotonsillectomy (AT).⁵³

In addition to adenotonsillar hypertrophy, reduction in size of craniofacial structures can compromise the pharyngeal space and contribute to the development of OSA.⁴³ Cephalometric studies frequently report that a narrower maxilla, mandibular retrognathia, longer lower face height, and caudal placement of the hyoid bone are characteristics seen in children with OSA.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁸ On lateral cephalometric radiographs, the distance measured between the posterior nasal spine and adenoids was found to be reduced by 2.6-5.6 mm in children with OSA compared to healthy controls.⁵⁹ Other studies did not find any differences in maxillary and mandibular width, length, or volume measurements between patients with OSA and normal controls.⁴⁸

Huynh *et al.* found that SDB symptoms as assessed through screening exams were primarily associated with adenotonsillar hypertrophy, allergies, frequent colds, habitual mouth breathing, and certain dentofacial morphological features. These morphological features were related to a long and narrow face (dolichocephaly), high mandibular plane angle, narrow palate, and severe crowding in the maxilla and mandible.⁶⁰ Flores-Mir *et al.* conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis in 2013 on the craniofacial morphological characteristics in children with OSA.⁶¹ Nine articles were included in this review with all using PSG to determine the presence and severity of OSA. They found that three variables were significantly different between children with and without OSA. Children with OSA had a steeper mandibular plane

angle (MP-SN = +4.2°), a more retrusive mandible (SNB = -1.79°), and were more likely to show a Class II skeletal pattern (ANB = $+1.38^{\circ}$).⁶¹ Similar findings were reported in a systematic review and meta-analysis by Katyal *et al.*⁵⁹ Compared with controls, children with OSA and primary snoring showed increased weighted mean differences in ANB angle of 1.64° and 1.54°, respectively. They found that the increased ANB angle was primarily due to a decreased SNB angle in children with primary snoring by 1.4°.⁵⁹

1.5.2 Upper Airway Collapsibility

Although anatomical differences and the structure of the upper airway have been shown to play a critical role in the development of OSA, they are not solely responsible for the pattern of SDB.⁵³ Obstructive apnea or hypopnea can occur when the collapsing forces are large enough to overcome the dilating forces and obstruct the airway. The pharyngeal critical pressure (Pcrit) is the airway pressure below which the flow-limiting site collapses and has been used as an index of upper airway collapsibility.⁶² A higher value of Pcrit implies a more collapsible upper airway, and subjects with OSA were shown to have higher Pcrit thresholds compared to normal subjects and those with primary snoring.⁶³ Patients with OSA have been shown to have increased upper airway collapsibility when awake as well as having an anatomically small upper airway.⁴⁵

During sleep, children with severe OSA may experience obstructive apneic episodes but can maintain normal sleep state distribution.⁶⁴ This suggests that during obstructive episodes, a compensatory mechanism is able to maintain airway patency via neuromuscular activation, ventilatory control, and arousal threshold.⁵³

The genioglossus, hyoglossus, and styloglossus are muscles that help to dilate the pharynx and maintain patency of the upper airway during respiration. These muscles produce

forward movement of the tongue and increase oropharyngeal airway size and stiffness.⁵³ These muscles experience inspiratory phasic activation approximately 200 ms prior to the diaphragm which act to prepare the airway so it can resist negative intraluminal pressure during inspiration. The coordination between the upper airway muscles and diaphragm acts at the level of the central nervous system (CNS).^{45,65}

During wakefulness, children have stable ventilation patterns with strong activation of the pharyngeal dilator muscles, specifically the genioglossus.⁶⁶ Children with OSA have increased genioglossus electromyography (EMG) recording levels compared with non-OSA controls.⁶⁶ The genioglossus stabilizes and enlarges the portion of the upper airway that is most vulnerable to collapse. Increase of genioglossus EMG levels suggests reflex activation of the genioglossus via mucosal mechanoreceptors to negative airway pressure. In the initial stages of sleep, the genioglossus EMG activity decreases in both OSA children and normal control children with a subsequent increase in airway resistance and collapsibility of the airway. Normal children with a mechanically stable airway have EMG activity that remains below the wakeful baseline during stage 2 of sleep. However, a greater reduction of EMG activity in OSA patients during sleep onset results in increased airway resistance to the point where reflex activation of the pharyngeal dilator muscles is necessary to maintain airway patency.⁶⁷

During collapse of the upper airway, minute ventilation decreases, inducing a compensatory increase in respiratory effort during inspiration that results in a large negative luminal pressure. Mucosal mechanoreceptors detect large negative luminal pressure changes, initiating a negative pressure reflex. This reflex induces the activation of pharyngeal dilator muscles and respiratory effort to decrease airway collapsibility and increase minute ventilation.⁵³ Marcus *et al.* observed that normal children are able to perform a negative pressure reflex and

restore minute ventilation without arousal when subjected to inspiratory resistance loading.⁶⁸ This negative pressure reflex is substantially diminished or completely lost in patients with OSA.⁵³ Therefore, patients with OSA must depend on arousal mechanisms to sustain minute ventilation.⁶⁸

1.5.3 Inflammation

It is hypothesized that snoring can induce a mucosal inflammatory response and swelling, which ultimately affects upper airway resistance and collapsibility. In children, OSA has been found to be associated with both systemic and local inflammation in the upper airway.⁶⁹ OSA can induce a systemic proinflammatory response which can result in end-organ dysfuction.⁷⁰

In children with SDB, higher levels of cysteinyl leukotrienes (CysLTs) have been found in upper airway samples.⁶⁹ CysLTs are major inflammatory mediators and potent neutrophil chemoattractants and activators. The expression of their receptors has been shown to be higher in children with OSA compared to children with recurrent tonsillitis, suggesting an inflammatory process involving leukotriene expression and regulation occurs in children with OSA. Local mucosal inflammation and edema could possibly impair the afferent limb of the negative pressure reflex.^{16,71} Goldbart *et al.* also found that there was upregulation of glucocorticoid receptor gene expression in adenoid and tonsillar tissues from children with OSA compared to tissues from children with recurrent throat infections.⁷² OSA severity has been shown to be reduced with the use of intranasal corticosteroid sprays and/or oral leukotriene antagonists when used in children with mild OSA or as an adjunct with other interventions.⁷³⁻⁷⁵ Treatment effects were shown to be effective at normalizing PSG findings and have lasting effects in 62% of

children with mild OSA when given a combination of intranasal corticosteroid and oral montekulast for 12 weeks.⁷⁶

Systemic inflammation can be reflected by C-reactive protein (CRP) plasma levels, which has been shown to be elevated in children with OSA.⁷⁷ Furthermore, CRP levels were found to decrease in children with OSA three months after AT, with a significant correlation between the changes in CRP and reduction in the severity of OSA.⁷⁸ Increased systemic inflammation is thought to be triggered by sleep fragmentation and episodic hypoxia that is common to OSA, which may lead to endothelial dysfunction, increased blood pressure, and insulin resistance.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ However, systemic steroids have been shown to be ineffective at treating OSA.⁸²

1.6 Obesity and OSA

Obesity is a known risk factor for OSA in adults and the prevalence of OSA is tripled for every standard deviation increase of BMI.^{83,84} The increasing epidemic of childhood obesity has unfortunately made it an important risk factor for modern childhood OSA. Compared to an estimated prevalence of OSA in 3% of healthy 2-8 year old children, obesity greatly increases the risk of OSA in children with an estimated prevalence ranging from 19% to 61% depending on age, degree of obesity, and definition of OSA.^{11,85} A vicious cycle can be initiated in children with both obesity and OSA, whereby the presence of OSA affects insulin resistance and leptin levels which continue the predisposition towards obesity.⁸⁶ Additionally, sleepiness can reduce a child's likelihood of engaging in physical activity and enhance eating habits that favour calorie-dense foods.⁸⁷ It was found that compared to controls, children with OSA have increased plasma ghrelin levels, resulting in hunger stimulation and increase in food intake.⁸⁸ Clinical and

epidemiological studies have established that obesity is one of the strongest predictors of OSA in both adults and children.^{89,90} Redline *et al.* found that the risk of OSA in 399 children aged 2-18 years was 4.5 times higher in obese children.¹⁷

The pathophysiology of OSA in obese children involves anatomical and functional factors that restrict the upper airway, alterations in chest wall mechanics affecting upper airway collapsibility and lung volumes, and inflammatory and metabolic factors that further contribute to the disorder.⁹¹ Obesity related anatomic risk factors specific to the upper airway soft tissues include the size of the parapharyngeal fat pads, lateral pharyngeal walls, soft palate, tongue, and amount of fat deposition in the tongue.⁴⁷ Increased size of pharyngeal lymphoid tissue has been shown to be the primary risk factor for OSA in obese adolescents.⁴⁷

Arens *et al.* performed volumetric analysis of the upper airway and noted larger adenoids, tonsils, and retropharyngeal nodes in obese children with OSA compared to matched controls.⁹² The size of the lymphoid tissue correlated with the severity of OSA but the effect was not modified by BMI.⁹² Parapharyngeal fat pads and abdominal visceral fat are also significantly increased in obese subjects, but their size were not correlated with the severity of OSA.⁹² Residual OSA exists after AT in 54-76% of obese children compared to about 15-20% in children without obesity.^{93,94} The Childhood Adenotonsillectomy Trial (CHAT), a multi-center randomized controlled trial of adenotonsillectomy versus watchful waiting found that only 33% of obese children had residual OSA, however, this finding was limited to a pre-adolescent sample that excluded extremely obese patients.⁵² After AT in obese children with OSA, it was found that AT increased the volume of the nasopharynx and oropharynx.⁹⁵ However, there was significant residual adenoid tissue, either from incomplete removal or regrowth, and an increase in the volume of the tongue and soft palate may have contributed to the lower success rate of AT

in obese children with OSA.⁹⁵ In this population, deposition of adipose tissue around the pharyngeal muscles and tissues and within the base of the tongue results in decreased airway size and an increase in airway resistance.⁹⁶ Furthermore, obese children may have altered chest wall mechanics and reduced lung volumes due to displacement of the diaphragm by the abdomen and decreased central ventilatory drive.⁹¹

A recent study on 210 Canadian children with obesity demonstrated that the prevalence of OSA as determined by PSG findings was 44% of which 28% were classified as having moderate or severe OSA.⁹⁷ The predictive factors of OSA were mouth breathing/nasal congestion (odds ratio = 0.33), presence of syndrome or multiple anomalies (odds ratio = 2.4), family history of OSA (odds ratio = 2.7), and sleep problems (odds ratio = 12.4).⁹⁷ Obese children with OSA were more likely to desaturate and they showed that a desaturation index of less than 6 events per hour was predictive of the absence of OSA (odds ratio = 4.96).⁹⁷

In the presence of obesity, OSA has significant effects on glycemic regulation and affects lipid homeostasis through changes in insulin sensitivity.^{69,98} Insulin resistance and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels improved after AT and normalized OAHI in about 25% of normal children compared to 10% of obese children.⁹⁹ Fasting glucose was not improved after AT and was most strongly associated with post-AT OAHI, suggesting that children with increased insulin resistance were more likely to have residual OSA.⁹⁹ Koren *et al.* also found that sleep duration was inversely associated with glucose levels and that sleep fragmentation was positively associated with insulin resistance, suggesting a synergistic relationship between insulin resistance and sleep fragmentation in children with obesity and OSA.¹⁰⁰

1.7 Down Syndrome and OSA

Children with DS have a significantly higher risk of OSA when compared to children of the general population.¹⁰¹ The prevalence of OSA in DS is much higher than in healthy children and can be upwards of 60%.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴ Furthermore, Shott *et al.* found that 80% of the children diagnosed with DS showed abnormal PSG results.¹⁰⁵ Craniofacial abnormalities which predispose these children to OSA include midface hypoplasia, mandibular hypoplasia, relative macroglossia, glossoptosis, an abnormally small upper airway with superficially positioned tonsils, relative tonsillar and adenoidal hypertrophy, hypopharyngeal collapse, tracheal stenosis, and laryngomalacia.^{16,106} Low upper airway muscle tone and lymphoid hyperplasia are additional factors influencing pharyngeal airway collapse in children with DS.^{107,108}

Volumetric measurements of the tongue with MRI showed that DS children had a normally sized tongue.¹⁰⁹ DS children have reduced space for the tongue from a hypoplastic maxilla, leading to airway volume loss and putting them at risk of OSA.¹⁰⁹ DS children also have increased incidence of lower respiratory tract infections, increased secretions leading to aspiration, obesity, hypothyroidism, and generalized hypotonia, which all further put this population at risk of OSA.^{3,110}

Skotko *et al.* studied OSA in DS children and aimed to create a predictive model for presence of OSA as defined by PSG determined AHI > 1.¹¹¹ Their study involved an overnight PSG, physical examination, medical history, lateral cephalogram, 3D photographs, sleep questionnaires, and urine samples. The resultant predictive model included variables from sleep questionnaires, medication history, vital signs, patient's age, physical examination findings, and anthropometric measurements. Physical examination findings used in the predictive model were

presence of macroglossia, Mallampati score¹¹², and neck circumference. Variables from the lateral cephalograms, 3D photographs, dental examinations, and urine samples did not improve their predictive model and were not included in their final model.¹¹¹

1.8 Complications of Pediatric OSA

Untreated OSA in children may lead to serious morbidity that affects multiple organs and systems, and these negative consequences may not be completely reversible.¹ The consequences of OSA are a result of the interactions between nocturnal episodic hypoxia, hypercapnia, and sleep fragmentation.¹ The effects of untreated SDB and OSA include behavioral disturbances, neurocognitive deficits, cardiovascular complications, inflammatory complications, growth impairment, decreased quality of life, and increased health related costs.

1.8.1 Behavioural and Neurocognitive Complications

Behavioural and neurocognitive morbidities are some of the most well-established long term consequences of pediatric OSA and behavioural dysregulation is the most commonly encountered comorbidity of OSA.¹ Numerous studies have investigated the relationship between OSA and behavioral and neurocognitive function. The majority of studies consistently report some association between OSA and hyperactivity, attention deficits, impulsivity, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder-like symptoms.^{1,3} In addition to behavioral changes, there are also reports of children with OSA demonstrating cognitive impairments that include poor school performance, impaired executive functioning, and inverse relationships with memory and learning.¹ These sequelae may lead to more extensive behavioral disturbances such as restlessness, aggressive behaviour, and excessive daytime sleepiness. More recently, studies have assessed neurocognition before and after treatment for OSA and demonstrated that there is significant improvement in neurocognition post treatment that are sustained for more than a year.³ The CHAT study found that for children who underwent AT, there was no improvement in attention or executive function but improvements in behaviour were reported by care givers and teachers.⁵² However, the CHAT study excluded children with severe OSA which might explain the study's negative findings for neurocognition.⁵²

1.8.2 Cardiovascular Complications

The early identification of cardiovascular complications associated with OSA is important such that intervention and treatment can be undertaken to reverse these processes in childhood and prevent further complications in adult life.¹ During sleep, recurrent episodes of upper airway obstruction in OSA results in intermittent hypoxia, hypercapnia, and intrathoracic pressure swings, which elicit disturbances in autonomic function. Increased urinary catecholamine levels and right ventricular dysfunction has also been demonstrated in children with OSA.¹ Most importantly, OSA is one of the leading causes of secondary hypertension, with more than 50% of OSA patients having hypertension.¹¹³ During sleep, normal individuals experience a nocturnal decrease, or "dip", in blood pressure.¹¹⁴ However, some OSA patients do not demonstrate this normal dip during sleep, and are classified as "non-dippers".¹¹⁵ Nondippers are at increased risk for hypertensive organ damage and subsequent cardiovascular events.^{113,116,117} Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP) therapy is recommended to treat OSA patients despite only modest blood pressure responses.¹¹⁸

1.8.3 Somatic Growth Impairment

Historically, failure to thrive was one of the most common consequences of OSA and has been reported in up to 50% of children presenting for AT. However, increased awareness of this

diagnosis in recent years has led to earlier recognition and referral which has translated in fewer children presenting with failure to thrive secondary to undiagnosed OSA.^{1,119} Suggested etiologies for somatic growth impairment include decreased caloric intake, increased work of breathing, and reduction in growth factors such as insulin-like growth factor-1 and growth hormone. Significant increases in insulin-like growth factor-1 and healthy weight gain without increased body fat percentage have been demonstrated six months after AT.^{120,121}

1.8.4 Quality of Life and Healthcare Resource Utilization

Childhood OSA leads to significant decreases in health related quality of life. However, quality of life scores significantly improve following AT treatment.¹²² Studies on children with OSA have shown that they are heavy consumers of healthcare resources, which is significantly increased several years before OSA diagnosis and usage can start as early as the first year of life.¹²³ The total number of hospital visits in children with OSA was 40% higher and these children required 20% more repeated hospital visits compared with matched controls. There was also a significant increase in referrals to otolaryngologists and pediatric respiratory medicine physicians, as well as increased consumption of anti-infective and respiratory system drugs in children with OSA.¹²³ Therefore, timely diagnosis and treatment of OSA can improve and possibly prevent serious end-organ dysfunction, as well as improve quality of life and reduce healthcare costs.

1.9 Diagnosis

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) has outlined the goals for the management of OSA in their clinical practice guidelines as follows: 1) identify children who are at risk for OSA; 2) avoid unnecessary intervention in patients who are not at risk; and 3) evaluate which patients are at risk of complications so that appropriate precautions can be taken.² Multiple diagnostic methods that have been evaluated include history and physical examination, audiotaping or video recording, pulse oximetry, patient questionnaires, and PSG.² Although, PSG is the gold standard test to diagnose OSA, due to the combination of its resource intensive nature of as well as the limited access to PSGs, other tools have been evaluated for their diagnostic accuracy to screen for pediatric OSA.

1.9.1 Signs and Symptoms

Although children with OSA may sometimes be asymptomatic, the most common signs and symptoms associated with childhood OSA are summarized in Table 1.1.

History	Physical Examination
Daytime Symptoms	• Failure to thrive or overweight/obesity
Morning headaches	Tonsillar hypertrophy
Daytime sleepiness	Adenoidal faces
Diagnosis of Attention Deficit	Micrognathia/retrognathia
Hyperactivity Disorder	High-arched palate
Learning problems	• Signs of cor pulmonale (shortness of
• Irritability	breath, wheezing, cyanosis, ascites)
Hyperactivity	Systemic Hypertension
Nocturnal Symptoms	
Snoring	
Witnessed apneas	
Gasping	
Paradoxical breathing	
Neck hyperextension	
Nocturnal diaphoresis	
Nocturnal enuresis	
Cyanosis	

Table 1.1 Common Signs and Symptoms of Pediatric OSA^{3,124}

Multiple studies have been performed to evaluate the use of history alone as a screening tool for the diagnosis of OSA.^{3,125-127} One study found that some of the parent's observations (observed cyanosis and loud snoring) are more frequently reported in children with OSA, however, no single or combination of observations could accurately predict the severity of OSA.¹²⁵ Sensitivities for these questions ranged from 35% to 85% and specificities ranged from 41% to 92%.¹²⁵ Although history has been shown to be poor at discriminating between primary snoring and OSA, a thorough evaluation of the child should be performed nonetheless.²

Snoring is the most common clinical symptom of OSA. The AAP recommends that clinicians should inquire whether a child snores as screening symptom for OSA during any routine healthcare visit.² Almost all children with OSA snore, thus asking about snoring is a sensitive, but not specific screening measure. If a history of snoring is confirmed, a more detailed history and physical examination for symptoms should be obtained. However, physical examinations for children with OSA are often normal. Non-specific findings related to adenotonsillar hypertrophy such as mouth breathing, nasal obstruction during wakefulness, adenoidal faces, and hyponasal speech may be present.² However, the presence of adenotonsillar hypertrophy has not been shown to reliably predict OSA.¹²⁸ Therefore, clinicians need to have a high index of suspicion for OSA in children at increased risk of developing OSA.

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a common behavioral disorder in children and adolescents with its main symptoms involving inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity.¹²⁹ There is a high prevalence of snoring and sleep problems in children with ADHD. ^{129,130} In addition, untreated OSA often presents with similar symptoms of ADHD and is a common cause of misdiagnosis. Therefore, children may be incorrectly prescribed long-term methylphenidate instead of recognizing and treating their underlying sleep disorder.¹³¹

There is an increased prevalence of secondary nocturnal enuresis in children with OSA. There are two potential explanations for this finding. Firstly, increased secondary nocturnal enuresis may be a result of the blunting effects of OSA on the arousal response. Secondly, upper airway collapse results in increased negative intrapleural pressure which increases venous return leading to left atrial distension and resultant increases in atrial natriuretic peptide and antidiuretic hormone.^{132,133}

1.9.2 Questionnaires

Parent questionnaires have been developed as screening tools for the diagnosis of pediatric OSA. One of the earliest questionnaires was developed by Brouillette *et al.* which calculated a score based on the responses to three main questions: 1) difficulty during sleep; 2) apnea observed during sleep; and 3) snoring.¹³⁴ The questionnaire was initially tested on 23 children with OSA and 46 controls. The formula used to calculate OSA score was: OSA score = 1.42D + 1.41A + 0.71S - 3.83 (where D is difficulty during sleep, A is apnea observed during sleep, and S is snoring).¹³⁴ The D and S variables were scored 0-3 based on responses of never, occasionally, frequently, and always.¹³⁴ The A variable was scored as 0 and 1 for no and yes, respectively.¹³⁴ 23 additional patients referred for possible OSA were used to test the scoring algorithm and the investigators found that an OSA score > 3.5 predicted the presence of OSA, while a score < -1 predicted the absence of PSG diagnosed OSA.¹³⁴

Schechter *et al.* compiled a total of 4 studies that used this questionnaire and found that in a total of 765 patients, the overall sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), and negative predictive value (NPV) were 60%, 52%, 65% and 46%, respectively.¹³⁵ The

investigators concluded that the questionnaire developed by Brouillette *et al.* had unacceptably low sensitivity and specificity for predicting OSA.¹³⁵

The Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire (PSQ) was published and validated by Chervin *et al.* in 2000.¹²⁷ It is a parent-reported questionnaire with 77 questions that is comprised of 4 subscales for SDB, snoring, sleepiness, and behaviour. The most commonly used subscale of the PSQ for assessing the presence of OSA is the Sleep-Related Breathing Disorders (SRBD) subscale, which consists of 22 questions (Appendix A). The questions on the SRBD scale are categorical in a Yes/No/Don't Know response format. The SRBD subscale of the PSQ was tested in Michigan on 162 children (54 with SRBDs and 108 general pediatric patients) between the ages of 2 and 18. It was able to correctly classify 86.4% of subjects with an overall sensitivity of 85% and specificity of 87% when using a cut-off score of 0.33.¹²⁷ A follow up study on 105 children from the Washtenaw County Adenotonsillectomy Cohort aged 5 to 12.9 years showed a sensitivity of 72%.¹²⁶

Spruyt and Gozal developed a third questionnaire in 2012.¹³⁶ The questionnaire consists of a set of 6 hierarchically ordered questions with Likert-type responses for the preceding 6-month time frame (Appendix B). Questions 1-4 and 6 were scored based on the following responses: "never" (0), "rarely" (once per week; 1), "occasionally" (twice pre week; 2), "frequently" (three to four times per week; 3), and "almost always" (four or more times per week; 4). Question 5 addressed snoring and were scored for the following responses: "mildly quiet" (0), "medium loud" (1), loud (2), "very loud" (3) and "extremely loud" (4). From a sample of 1133 children from schools around Louisville that were predominantly white non-Hispanics and aged 5-9 years old, they found that their questionnaire had a sensitivity of 59.03%, a specificity of 82.85%, a PPV of 35.4, and NPV of 92.7. They concluded that their

questionnaire will aid the screening of children at high risk of SDB but cannot be used as the sole diagnostic tool.¹³⁶

A systematic review by Schechter *et al.* evaluated the diagnostic accuracy of questionnaires for the diagnosis of pediatric OSA as compared to PSG. They concluded that questionnaires had unacceptably low sensitivity and specificity for OSA and could not be used in clinical practice.¹³⁵ More recently, a systematic review by De Luca Canto *et al.* assessed the ability of different questionnaires and clinical examinations to assess SDB in children. They concluded that the PSQ had the best diagnostic accuracy of the evaluated tests. However, they recommended that dentists should use the PSQ *only* as a screening tool for pediatric SDB because its diagnostic accuracy is not high enough to replace the current reference standard, PSG.¹³⁷

1.9.3 Polysomnography

An overnight PSG is the gold standard for diagnosing OSA and is the only diagnostic test able to both identify SDB and quantify the respiratory and sleep abnormalities associated with OSA in children.³ An overnight PSG is also known as a Level I study which is performed in a sleep laboratory and attended by a sleep technologist and measures several complex polygraphic signals and physiological channels.⁹ It measures electroencephalography (EEG), submental and limb extremity electromyography (EMG), electrooculography (EOG), and cardiorespiratory variables such as respiratory effort, heart rate, pulse oximetry, and carbon dioxide levels. A typical recording lasts for approximately 8 to 10 hours and from the acquired information, respiratory events (flow limitation, central and obstructive events), arousals, gas exchange abnormalities, periodic limb movements and autonomic changes can be evaluated.¹⁶ Notably, an

obstructive apnea-hypopnea index (OAHI) is derived based on the PSG data which reflects both the presence of and severity of OSA.

OAHI is defined as the number of obstructive apneas and obstructive hypopneas per hour of total sleep time. An obstructive apnea is defined as a drop in the peak airflow \geq 90% of baseline, with the drop lasting at least the duration of two breaths (as determined during baseline breathing) and is associated with the presence of respiratory effort throughout the entire period of absent airflow.¹⁰ An obstructive hypopnea is defined as a drop in the peak airflow \geq 30% of baseline, for the duration of at least two breaths and associated with either a \geq 3% oxygen desaturation or an arousal.¹⁰ Unfortunately, individual sleep laboratories often establish their own thresholds for diagnosis of OSA. Beck *et al.* reported that an AHI \leq 1.4 is statistically normal and that many centres will treat children for OSA with an AHI in the range of 2-5.¹³⁸

However, more recently ,The International Classification of Sleep Disorders-Version 3 (ICSD-3) classified pediatric OSA as the presence of an OAHI > 1/hour.⁸ Although PSGs are the gold standard test for the diagnosis of pediatric OSA, challenges related to performing an overnight PSGs include inconvenience of having to sleep away from home, expenses to the patient and their family due to missed days of work, as well as a relative shortage of pediatric sleep diagnostic facilities resulting in prolonged wait times for children. There is a lack of resources and services for pediatric SDB across Canada; Katz *et al.* estimated that there are 7.5 times more children with OSA than the current testing capacity in Canada.¹³⁹ Furthermore, there are marked provincial discrepancies across Canada with many provinces having no dedicated pediatric sleep diagnostic centers.¹³⁹ In those provinces with access to pediatric PSG, wait times ranged from less than one month up to 1.5-2 years.¹³⁹

1.9.4 Cephalometric Measurements and OSA

The use of cephalometry and cephalometric radiographs for orthodontic practice was first introduced in the United States by Dr. B. Holly Broadbent in 1931.¹⁴⁰ Since then, its use has led to the development of many detailed cephalometric analyses that assist orthodontists in everyday diagnosis and treatment planning. The Steiner, Downs, Wits, Harvold, and Tweed analyses are some of the most commonly used analyses.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴⁵ In addition to diagnosis and treatment planning, cephalometric radiographs can also be used to assess growth, monitor growth by superimpositions, and to determine treatment effects.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ Length and angular measurements are based on multiple cephalometric landmarks which are summarized in Table 1.2.¹⁴⁶

Cephalometric Landmark	Landmark Symbol	Definition
A point (subspinale)	A	Innermost point on the concavity of the anterior maxilla between the anterior nasal spine and upper incisor
Anterior Nasal Spine	ANS	Tip of the anterior nasal spine
Articulare	Ar	Point of intersection between the shadow of the zygomatic arch and the posterior border of the mandibular ramus
B Point (supramentale)	В	Innermost point on concavity of the mandible between the lower incisor and bony chin
Basion	Ва	Lowest point on the anterior margin of the foramen magnum
Bolton	Во	Highest point in the upward curvature of the retrocondylar fossa of the occipital bone
Condylion	Со	Most posterior and superior point of the mandibular condyle
Glabella	G	Most prominent point of the frontal bone between the supraorbital ridges
Gnathion	Gn	The center of the inferior point on the mandibular symphysis; midpoint between pogonion and menton
Gonion	Go	Midpoint of the contour connecting the ramus and body of the mandible
Menton	Me	The most inferior point on the mandibular symphysis
Nasion	Na	Anterior point of the intersection between the nasal and frontal bones
Orbitale	Or	The lowest point on the inferior margin of the orbit
Pogonion	Pg	Most anterior point on the contour of the bony chin
Porion	Ро	Midpoint of the upper contour of the external auditory canal
Posterior Nasal Spine	PNS	Tip of the posterior spin of the palatine bone at the junction of the hard and soft palates
Pterygomaxillary fissure	Ptm	The point at the base of the pterygomaxillary fissure where the anterior and posterior walls meet
PT point	PT	Point at junction between Ptm and foramen rotundum; most posterior superior point on the pterygomaxillary fissure
Sella	S	The midpoint of the cavity of sella turcica
Spheno-occipital Synchondrosis	SO	Junction between the occipital and basisphenoid tissues

 Table 1.2 Common Cephalometric Landmarks
Studies evaluating cephalograms in children with OSA demonstrate mixed results. Luzzi et al. conducted a study on 30 children between the ages of 5 and 8 years with habitual snoring who went for an overnight PSG and lateral cephalogram.¹⁴⁹ They found that children with increasing airflow obstruction and SDB had significantly greater Frankfurt Mandibular Plane Angles (FMA). They concluded that mandibular rotation plays an important role in the pathophysiology of upper airway patency and that cephalometric analysis provides an easily accessible early warning sign for the presence of future development of SDB.¹⁴⁹ However, Katyal et al. conducted a study on a sample of children between the ages of 8 and 18 years. These authors found that there were no saggital or vertical skeletal cephalometric predictors that were identified in children at high risk for SDB.¹⁵⁰ The same authors went on to conduct a metaanalysis on craniofacial and upper airway morphology in pediatric SDB and found that only the ANB angle in children with OSA versus healthy controls was increased in the OSA group by a weighted mean difference of 1.64° (95% confidence interval = 0.88 to 2.41, p < 0.0001).⁵⁹ In children with primary snoring versus healthy controls, primary snorers had an increased ANB angle by a weighted mean difference of 1.54° (95% confidence interval = 0.89 to 2.2, p < 0.00001) and was mainly due to mandibular retrusion as measured by a reduced sella-nasion-B point (SNB) angle (weighted mean difference = -1.4, 95% confidence interval = -2.58 to -0.23, p = 0.02).⁵⁹ They concluded that the increased ANB angle of less than two degrees may not be clinically significant and that their meta-analysis could not support a direct causal relationship between craniofacial features and pediatric SDB.⁵⁹ These features may persist into the adult years as shown by Laxmi et al. in a sample of OSA and control patients ranging from the ages of 25-45.¹⁵¹ They found that the OSA group had a significantly increased ANB angle, increased mandibular plane angle (GoGn-SN), increased lower anterior face height, decreased posterior

airway space, increased soft palate length, and increased tongue length and thickness.¹⁵¹ A metaanalysis of cephalometric studies in adult patients with OSA confirmed by PSG reinforced these conclusions and reported that those with OSA had reduced pharyngeal airway space, inferiorly positioned hyoid bone, and increased anterior face heights when compared to healthy controls.¹⁵²

1.10 Pediatric OSA Treatment

Treatment for pediatric OSA depends on the underlying etiology, clinical assessment, as well as the severity of the disease. It should be tailored to each child based on each patient's unique clinical constellation of pathology. First line treatment for pediatric OSA is adenotonsillectomy. However, there are several other treatment options including both medical and surgical options.

1.10.1 Adenotonsillectomy

Adenotonsillar hypertrophy is the most common cause of childhood OSA. Adenotonsillar hypertrophy occurs most frequently between the ages of 2-6 years, when the pharyngeal lymphoid tissue outgrows the structures of the surrounding airway, leading to obstruction of the upper airway during sleep.¹⁵³ Adenotonsillectomy (AT) is recommended as the first line treatment of pediatric OSA as only 9% of OSA secondary to adenotonsillar hypertrophy displayed spontaneous resolution within 1 year.^{153,154}

Friedman *et al.* conducted a systematic review and found that the success of AT ranges from 24-100% in the pediatric population.¹⁵⁵ Specifically, when cure of OSA was defined as AHI of < 1 post-operatively, AT was successful in 66.3% of the time. Furthermore, Lim *et al.* concluded that a cure rate of OSA (AHI < 5) from AT was between 78.4% and 100%.¹⁵⁶ However, in children with underlying airway abnormalities due to factors such as obesity, craniofacial anomalies, and neuromuscular deficits, AT is more likely to fail as a treatment compared to AT performed on children without the abnormalities.¹⁵³

A randomized controlled trial by Marcus *et al.* (Childhood Adenotonsillectomy Trial; CHAT) evaluated the benefits and risks of AT compared to watchful waiting for the management of pediatric OSA.⁵² A total of 464 children between the ages of 5-9 years old with a diagnosis of OSA as defined by AHI score of 2 or more events per hour or obstructive apnea index (OAI) score of 1 or more events per hour were randomly assigned to early AT or watchful waiting. Children with severe OSA from PSG findings of AHI more than 30 events per hour, OAI of more than 20 events per hour, or arterial oxyhemoglobin saturation of less than 90% for 2% or more of their total sleep time were excluded. They found that surgical intervention of early AT did not significantly improve attention or executive function as measured by neuropsychological testing (Developmental Neuropsychological Assessment; NEPSY). However, early AT did reduce symptoms and improve secondary outcomes of behaviour, quality of life, and PSG findings. In the CHAT study, 79% of the children undergoing AT had normalization of their PSG findings. Interestingly, normalization also occurred in 46% of children that were observed for 6 months.⁵² When obese and non-obese children were compared, obese participants were less likely to improve. PSG findings were normalized in 54% of obese children vs. 85% of nonobese children that underwent early adenotonsillectomy. As well, only 29% of obese children vs. 67% of non-obese children had improved PSG findings when no adenotonsillectomy was performed.52

Studies have shown that pre-pubertal adolescents that were initially considered to be cured of OSA by AT had recurrence later as teenagers.^{157,158} Patients that were initially treated with AT had narrowing behind the base of the tongue and other anatomical abnormalities that

either were not identified previously or were not present during the initial exam.¹⁵⁷ A narrow upper airway and snoring was shown to persist 12 years after AT.¹⁵⁸ Complete resolution of OSA following AT was present in only 51% of non-obese pre-pubertal children when studied with a PSG 3 months post-operatively.¹⁵⁹ AT was also shown to lead to significant improvements in many indices of SDB in children, however, 70% of children above 7 years old or those who were obese had residual OSA.¹⁶⁰ Therefore, regular monitoring is necessary for patients even if they had a good response to AT.¹⁵³

1.10.2 Noninvasive Positive Airway Pressure

Noninvasive Positive Airway Pressure (PAP) therapy is recommended for children who are not candidates for AT, who need a temporizing therapy pending a definitive surgical intervention and/or those with persistent moderate to severe OSA post AT.¹⁵³ PAP works by counteracting sleep-induced negative transmural pressure that promotes collapse and narrowing of the upper airway. Upper airway patency is maintained by delivery of pressurized air that creates a pneumatic splint to prevent partial or complete collapse of the airway during sleep.¹⁶¹ The aim of PAP therapy is to normalize obstructive apnea hypopnea index (OAHI), improve sleep quality, and normalize gas exchange. There are two main types of noninvasive PAP therapy that are delivered through masks that are worn over the nose or both the nose and mouth: 1) continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and 2) Bi-level positive airway pressure (BPAP).

PAP therapy has been shown to be an effective treatment of pediatric OSA across all age groups.³ Marcus *et al.* showed that both CPAP and BPAP were both efficacious in reducing AHI from 27 ± 32 to 3 ± 5 per hour.¹⁶² However, 27.6% of 29 children did not adhere for at least 6 months and for the children who did adhere to PAP use, the average nightly use was 5.3 ± 2.5

hours.¹⁶² Furthermore, a study on 99 Australian children found that adherence (>4 hours/night for at least 70% of nights over 1 year) was higher in those that used BPAP (80%) compared to CPAP (76%).¹⁶³

However, PAP therapy may be cumbersome to wear and the greatest barrier to effective treatment is adherence.¹⁶⁴ A 3 month follow up study found that maternal education was the main predictor for number of nights used and hours of PAP use per night.¹⁶⁵ They also found that adherence to PAP was lower in African American children compared to other races and correlated inversely with age.¹⁶⁵ Adherence was not correlated with severity of OSA or pressure levels.¹⁶⁵ The successful implementation of PAP therapy in the home for a child often involves the whole family and requires cooperation and commitment from both the patient and the parents.¹⁵³ A 3 year follow up after initiation of PAP therapy found that patients with more severe OSA, higher BMI, and subjective daytime sleepiness were more adherent to PAP therapy.¹⁶⁶ However, in children and adolescents, the adherence to PAP therapy appears to be primarily related to family and demographic factors rather than OSA severity or measures of psychosocial functioning.¹⁶⁵ Complications of PAP include skin erythema and breakdown, midface hypoplasia, gastric insufflation, aspiration risk, nosebleeds, nasal congestion, eye irritation, rebreathing CO₂, pulmonary air leaks, and cardiovascular complications (decreased venous return, right atrial filling, and left ventricular filling).¹⁶⁷

There are contradictory reports regarding the long-term effects of PAP therapy on the development of the face, jaws, and teeth.³ Some case reports suggest that early childhood long-term treatment with either CPAP or BPAP carries a high risk of facial growth impairment, particularly, midface hypoplasia and Class III malocclusions.^{168,169} However, a cross-sectional study by Korayem *et al.* of 12 children (mean age of 9 years) that wore PAP for 6 months for at

least 6 hours per night, showed no statistically significant difference in midface projection compared to 11 healthy controls.¹⁷⁰ However, these conflicting results may be a result of differences in the ages of the children studied as well as duration of PAP therapy.

1.10.3 Orthodontic Treatment

Orthodontic appliances have been considered as potential treatment options for patients with persistent or residual OSA post AT. Craniofacial abnormalities with imbalanced development may contribute to OSA.¹⁷¹ These include posterior crossbites, Class II skeletal and dental malocclusions, and anterior open bite.¹⁷² Orthodontic treatment improves esthetic and occlusal relationships, but can also help guide facial growth to correct facial imbalances, improve swallowing, reposition tongue posture, and re-establish nasal breathing.¹⁷² Extraction of teeth is commonly performed to aid with orthodontic treatment, however, the absence of four premolars by extraction therapy was shown to not be a significant factor in the cause of OSA.¹⁷³

Rapid Maxillary Expansion

Rapid Maxillary Expansion (RME) is a common orthodontic procedure used to correct maxillary arch constriction and posterior crossbites by separation of the mid-palatal suture prior to its fusion.¹⁷² It is commonly used in children and adolescents in the primary, mixed, or permanent dentition.

Maxillary constriction is common in children with OSA and many children have associated nasal obstruction due to nasal septum deviation with or without turbinate hypertrophy.¹⁷⁴ The exact pathophysiology of maxillary constriction in OSA is unclear, however, it is thought that maxillary constriction increases nasal resistance and alters the tongue position. This leads to narrowing of the retroglossal airway and the subsequent development of OSA.¹⁷⁴

In terms of oropharyngeal airway volume, there currently isn't any evidence to support enlargement via RME. Adolescent patients with maxillary constriction were treated with hyrax palatal expanders for routine orthodontic treatment. Compared to controls, cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT) showed no significant differences in volume, length, and minimum crosssectional area of the oropharynx.¹⁷⁵

Although RME may not affect oropharyngeal volume, it may affect the nasopharynx as RME has been shown to increase nasal width and nasal cavity dimensions and in doing so, reducing the nasal resistance to airflow.¹⁶ Pirelli *et al.* investigated the effect of RME on 31 children with maxillary constriction, without adenoid hypertrophy, with OSA demonstrated by PSG.¹⁷⁶ The duration of RME treatment was between 10-20 days with 6-12 months of retention. The mean AHI fell from 12.2 to less than one event per hour, demonstrating resolution of OSA. The authors also investigated whether RME could improve patency of nasal breathing and OSA in 31 children with a history of snoring, mouth breathing, and night time apneas. Posterior-anterior cephalometric evaluations were performed before orthodontic treatment, one month after initiation of treatment, and at the end of orthodontic treatment. They concluded that in children with BMI < 24 kg/m² and no adenotonsillar hypertrophy, RME widens the nasal fossa and releases the septum with restoration of normal nasal airflow and a disappearance of obstructive SDB.¹⁷⁷ A 12 year follow up of these patients showed no significant changes in PSG findings into adulthood with stability of the maxillary base as shown by CT imaging.¹⁷⁸

33

Functional Appliance Therapy

Functional appliances can be either removable or fixed intraoral devices that can alter muscular forces on teeth and the underlying craniofacial skeletal as well as change the resting posture of the mandible. Altered neuromuscular action can affect bony growth and the developing occlusion. Functional appliances have been used in children because they posture the mandible forward and potentially enlarge the upper airway to improve respiratory function.¹⁷⁹

A 2016 Cochrane review on the effectiveness of using functional appliances for the treatment of OSA in children only identified one paper that met their inclusion criteria.¹⁸⁰ The authors concluded that there is insufficient evidence to support or refute the effectiveness of functional orthopaedic appliances for the treatment of OSA in children but they may be considered in specific cases as an auxiliary in the treatment of children with craniofacial abnormalities which are risk factors for OSA. Regarding, the one study that was included in the Cochrane review, this was a randomized controlled trial of an active oral appliance vs. no treatment in 32 children with OSA defined by an AHI > 1 event/hour as diagnosed by PSG. 9 participants were lost to follow up and of the remaining sample, 14 were treated with an oral appliance. Pretreatment AHI was 7.1 \pm 3.6 which decreased to 2.6 \pm 2.2 after 6 months of treatment (p < 0.001).¹⁸¹

1.11 OSA and Craniofacial and Dentofacial Development

Craniofacial structures can be defined as structures of the cranium, specifically, the skeletal and neuromuscular structures of the skull, brain, and the face.¹⁴⁶ Dentofacial structures refer to the skeletal and neuromuscular structures of the face, mouth, and teeth and their relationship to each other.¹⁴⁶ Craniofacial growth and development in children is a result of both

genetic and environmental influences.³⁴ There can be craniofacial and dentofacial morphological sequelae secondary to upper airway obstruction.¹⁸²

Linder-Aronson first described the effect of the adenoids on the mode of breathing and their relationship with dentofacial characteristics in children in a series of elegant experiments.¹⁸³ Enlarged adenoids or an anatomical defect such as decreased nasal width or nasal septum deviation reduce nasal breathing and result in mouth breathing as the primary mode of respiration. Mouth breathing leads to an altered pattern of muscle recruitment in the oral and nasal capsule, ultimately resulting in skeletal changes.¹⁸⁴ Increased nasal resistance resulting from nasal obstruction in the first 6 months of life in baby rhesus monkeys has been shown to lead to narrowing of the dental arches, decreased maxillary length, anterior crossbite, maxillary overjet, and an increase in anterior face height.^{184,185} These changes were shown to be reversible when the nasal obstruction and resistance was removed while the monkey was still in its developmental phase.¹⁸⁴

Mouth breathing in children is commonly associated with an extended head posture (3-5° extended craniocervical posture), retrognathic mandible, an increased anterior face height, steeper mandibular plane, a lowered hyoid bone, anterior-inferior posture of the tongue, and high palatal vault.¹⁸⁶ This pattern of findings is termed the "long face syndrome" or "adenoid facies".^{55-57,183} A typical adenoid face is characterized by incompetent lips, narrow maxillary dental arch, retroclined mandibular incisors, increased anterior face height, steep mandibular plane, and retrognathic mandible.¹⁸³

Dentofacial anomalies can be present as malocclusions which can be identified during routine intra-oral examinations. Specifically, posterior crossbite, Class II skeletal and dental

35

malocclusion, and anterior open bite are more prevalent in children with OSA versus controls.¹⁸⁷ The prevalence of posterior crossbite in children with OSA is between 16.7%-68.2% versus 2.4%-23.2% in controls.^{59,188,189} The prevalence of Class II skeletal and dental patterns in children with OSA is between 29.3%-88% versus 4.9%-28% in controls.¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰ The prevalence of anterior open bite in children with OSA is between 5%-20% versus 0% in controls.^{60,188,189} However, only one study confirmed the presence of OSA with PSG¹⁸⁹, while the others used questionnaires to confirm OSA.

The literature is contradictory regarding the resolution versus the persistence of craniofacial and dentofacial abnormalities after treatment for OSA in children. Some studies have shown that cephalometric variables normalize after early treatment of OSA with AT, while others have shown that open bites and crossbites are still present 2 years after AT.^{57,187} However, the studies greatly differed in methodology as the former had OSA confirmed by PSG pre-treatment only, while the former did not confirm OSA with PSG. It is recommended that children with OSA are diagnosed early and treatment is initiated at a young age so that sequelae of the disease are prevented and any long term craniofacial and dentofacial changes are normalized.^{57,187}

Two systematic reviews by Flores-Mir *et al.* and Katyal *et al.* in 2013 compared cephalometric radiograph findings between non-syndromic healthy children and children with OSA.^{59,61} Flore-Mir *et al.* identified 9 studies that met their inclusion criteria and a total of 198 children with PSG confirmed OSA were compared against age-matched controls.⁶¹ They reported significant findings in children with OSA having a more retrusive chin (mean difference SNB = -1.79° , p < 0.001), steeper mandibular plane (mean difference MP-SN = 4.2° , p < 0.001), and a tendency towards Class II malocclusion (mean difference ANB = 1.38° , p < 0.001).⁶¹ Katyal *et al.* identified 9 studies in their review that included a total of 264 children with OSA confirmed with either PSG or questionnaires.⁵⁹ Similarly, they found that children with OSA had a steeper mandibular plane angle (mean difference MP-SN = 2.74° , p = 0.006) and larger ANB angle (mean difference ANB = 1.64° , p < 0.0001).⁵⁹

1.13 Study Rationale

Currently, the understanding of OSA as it relates to craniofacial and dentofacial morphology is unclear due to varying methodological approaches. Almost all studies do not use the gold standard, PSG, to confirm the presence or absence of OSA. Furthermore, there is limited literature that addresses craniofacial morphology in populations that are at higher risk of OSA, including children with DS or children with obesity. Formal orthodontic clinical and radiographic examinations are not part of the clinical standard of care in most sleep medicine programs. Furthermore, the assessment of craniofacial features can be subjective resulting in significant inter-clinician variation. Therefore, it is important to establish a standard clinical examination protocol when screening these high risk populations and to be able to correlate these with objective measures of craniofacial features that may be risk factors of the presence of pediatric OSA.

1.14 Study Aim

The primary aim of this study was to describe and compare the craniofacial morphology of children with suspected OSA who have been referred for a PSG in two pediatric cohorts of patients: DS and Obesity. The secondary aim of our study was to identify clinical and/or cephalometric predictors of OSA in the two cohorts of children: DS and Obesity.

37

Chapter 2: Methods and Materials

2.1 Study Design

This was a cross-sectional study that took place at the Hospital for Sick Children (SickKids) in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Ethics approval was obtained from both the University of Toronto Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (Protocol #31147) and the Hospital for Sick Children's Research Ethics Board (REB #1000047032).

2.2 Study Population and Participants

Children who were referred to the sleep laboratory at SickKids for an overnight PSG between October 2016 and February 2018 were screened to determine eligibility for participation in the study according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria listed in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion Criteria	Exclusion Criteria
 Age 5 to 18 years Diagnosis of DS or Obesity Referred for a PSG at SickKids 	• Children and/or parental caregivers who were not proficient in English

2.3 Study Procedures

After consent and enrolment into the study, each participant underwent the following

study procedures:

- 1) Demographic and Anthropometric Measures
- 2) Sleep Questionnaires
 - a. Sleep Related Breathing Disorders (SRBD) Scale of the PSQ
 - b. Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire
- 3) Clinical Orthodontic Examination

- 4) Polysomnogram
- 5) Lateral Cephalogram

Study procedures 1-4 were completed at the SickKids Sleep Laboratory on the night of their scheduled sleep study. The lateral cephalogram was taken by an x-ray technologist in the SickKids Orthodontic Clinic the morning after the PSG was completed.

2.3.1 Demographic and Anthropometric Measures

The following demographic and anthropometric information was collected for each patient: 1) date of sleep study; 2) age; 3) date of birth; 4) gender; 5) country of origin of mother; 6) country of origin of father; 7) body type; 8) height; 9) weight; and 10) BMI.

Each participant's BMI was calculated using the formula $BMI = Weight (kg)/Height^2$ (m²). The resultant BMI was then converted into a percentile for the population according to the patient's age and gender using the BMI percentile calculator by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).¹⁹¹ Charts specifically designated for DS pediatric populations were used to determine the BMI percentile for the DS group.¹⁹²

2.3.2 Sleep Questionnaires

Sleep Related Breathing Disorders Scale of the PSQ

The parents and guardians of each patient completed the Sleep-Related Breathing Disorders (SRBD) Scale of the PSQ. There are 22 items for the SRBD scale, each with the following response options: yes, no, or don't know. The SRBD scale is scored by dividing the number of items answered positively ("yes") by the number of items answered either positively ("yes") or negatively ("no"). Items that have missing responses or are answered as "don't know" are excluded. The resultant score could range from 0 to 1.0. Scores greater than 0.33 were considered to be positive and suggestive of pediatric SDB.¹²⁶

Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire

A second questionnaire completed by the parents or guardians of the participants was the Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire.¹³⁶ This questionnaire consists of 6 questions that are answered based on the preceding 6-month time frame and use a Likert-type response scale. Questions 1-4 and 6 are scored for the following responses: "never" (0), "rarely" (1), "occasionally" (2), "frequently" (3) and "almost always" (4). Question 5 addresses snoring and are scored for the following responses: "mildly quiet" (0), "medium loud" (1), loud (2), "very loud" (3) and "extremely loud" (4). The total score for the questionnaire was calculated based on the following formula (where Q1 = raw score to question 1, Q2 = raw score to question 2, and so forth): A = (Q1 + Q2)/2; B = (A + Q3)/2; C = (B + Q4)/2; D = (C + Q5)/2; and the cumulative score = D + Q6)/2. A cumulative score that is equal to or greater than 2.72 is indicative of the child having a high risk for OSA.¹³⁶

2.3.3 Clinical Orthodontic Examination

All study participants underwent the same comprehensive clinical examination by the same examiner, C.N. The examination consisted of measurements that addressed the dental, skeletal, functional, and esthetic features of the participant. The clinical examination was subdivided into three sections: 1) Frontal View, 2) Profile View, and 3) Intra-Oral Examination.

Frontal View

The frontal view examination began with determining the facial type as either mesocephalic (average head), brachycephalic (broad and short head), or dolichocephalic (narrow and long head). The lower face height was measured by comparing the soft tissue upper face height (soft tissue glabella to soft tissue subnasale) to the soft tissue lower face height (soft tissue subnasale to soft tissue menton). A normal face height existed if the ratio between the soft tissue upper face height to soft tissue lower face height was approximately 1:1.¹⁴⁶ If the lower face height was shorter than the upper face height (soft tissue face height ratio greater than 1:1), a decreased lower face height existed. Contrarily, if the lower face height was greater than the upper face height (soft tissue face height ratio less than 1:1), an increased lower face height existed. Mandibular symmetry was assessed by determining the position of the chin point relative to the facial midline in the absence of a functional shift. Maxillary and mandibular dental midlines were assessed relative to the facial midline and if a deviation existed, the amount of deviation relative to the facial midline was recorded in millimeters. Incisor and gingival display in the anterior were assessed both at rest and during smile and recorded to the nearest 1 millimeter. Measurements were completed with a periodontal probe with markings at 1 mm intervals. Table 2.2 summarizes the frontal view examination.

Table 2.2 Frontal View Examination

Frontal View						
1. Facial Type (if borderline, choose mesocephalic)	Mesocephalic Brachycephalic Dolichocephalic					
2. Lower Face Height	Normal Increased Decreased					
3. Symmetry	Symmetric Mandible shift to Right Mandible shift to Left					
4. Dental Midlines (midline – use cusp of upper lip)	Upper:on with facial midlineshift to Rightshift to Left; Amount :mm Lower:on with facial midlineshift to Rightshift to Left; Amount :mm					
5. Incisor Display at Rest	mm					
6. Gingival Display on Smile	mm					
7. Incisor Display on Smile	mm					

Profile View

The profile view section of the clinical examination evaluated the participant's profile, the anteroposterior relationship of the maxilla, mandible, upper lip, and lower lip, the nasolabial angle and lip strain.¹⁴⁶ The facial profile was assessed by measuring the angle formed between a line extending from soft tissue nasion to soft tissue subnasale and a second line extending from soft tissue subnasale and soft tissue pogonion. A straight line indicated a straight profile, while an acute angle indicated a convex profile, and an obtuse angle indicated a concave profile. Lip position was determined relative to a straight line from the tip of the nose to the most anterior point on the curvature of the soft tissue chin. The nasolabial angle was measured as either normal (90°-100°), acute (<90°), or obtuse (>100°). Lip strain was assessed by the activity of the mentalis muscle when the lips were brought into contact with each other. Table 2.3 summarizes the profile view examination.

Table 2.3 Profile View Examination

	Profile View		
8. Facial Profile	Straight	Concave	Convex
9. Skeletal Position - Maxilla	Retrognathic	Normal	Prognathic
10. Skeletal Position - Mandible	Retrognathic	Normal	Prognathic
11. Nasolabial Angle	Normal 90°-100	• Acute (<90•) 🗌 Obtuse (>100°)
Lip Position 12. With respect to esthetic line: Upper lip	Normal	Retrusive	Protrusive
13. With respect to esthetic line: Lower lip	🗌 Normal	Retrusive	Protrusive
14. Lip strain to close	Yes	No	

Intra-Oral Examination

Table 2.4 summarizes the evaluation of tonsil size and history of mouth breathing. Tonsil size was evaluated and graded according to the Standardized Tonsillar Hypertrophy Grading Scale.¹⁹³ Surgically removed tonsils were graded as tonsil size 0. Tonsil size 1 denotes tonsils hidden within the tonsillar pillars. If the tonsils extended to the edge of the tonsillar pillars, a grading of tonsil size 2 was noted. Tonsil size 3 describes tonsils that extend beyond the pillars but not to the midline. When the tonsils are so enlarged that they extend to the midline, tonsil size 4 was recorded. Participants and parents were also asked about history of mouth breathing during the day and night.

Table 2.4 Tonsil Size and Mouth Breathing

Tonsil Size and Mouth Breathing							
15. Tonsils	$\square \text{Removed} \square 1 + \square 2 + \square 3 + \square 4 + (kissing t)$	onsils)					
16. History of Mouth Breathing	Yes No If YES: During Day Time During Night Time						

The intra-oral section of the clinical examination is summarized in Table 2.5. The intraoral examination measured discrepancies in all 3 planes: horizontal, vertical, and anteriorposterior. Interarch relationships and maxillary and mandibular crowding and/or spacing were also assessed.

Participants were asked about oral habits and since when they started those habits as seen in Table 3.5. Overjet was measured by taking the average measurement from the labial of the mandibular central incisors to the incisal edge of the maxillary central incisors. Overbite was measured as the percentage of the total height of the mandibular central incisor that was overlapped by the opposing maxillary central incisor. If no overbite existed, 0% was recorded, and the amount of anterior open bite measured between the edges of the maxillary central incisor and mandibular central incisors was also recorded. Posterior open bite was measured to the nearest millimeter along the buccal segments. Measurements were completed with a periodontal probe to the nearest millimeter. The teeth that were present were charted on an odontogram. Anterior and posterior crossbites were recorded and the number of maxillary teeth in crossbite was specified. Posterior crossbites included maxillary posterior teeth that were in a cusp-to-cusp relationship or lingually positioned compared to the mandibular posterior teeth. CR/CO shifts were recorded with the direction of the shift. Intermolar width was measured from the lingual groove of the maxillary first molars at the gingival margin. Maxillary intercanine width was

44

measured from cusp tip to cusp tip. Intermolar and intercanine distances were measured with a Boley gauge with 0.1 mm accuracy. Tongue size was assessed and relative macroglossia was recorded if crenations were present on the lateral aspects of the tongue. Arch shape was noted as either U or V shaped and it was recorded if the palate was narrow. Palatal depth was measured from the occlusal plane of the maxilla at the level of the premolars or primary molars. Permanent molar relationships for both the left and right sides were classified according to Angle's classification (Class I, II, or III). Terminal plane relationships for mixed and primary dentition was noted and canine classifications were also recorded. Molar and canine relationships that deviated half a cusp or less from Class I were considered Class I. Crowding and/or spacing for both the maxillary and mandibular dental arches were recorded as either mild (< 3 mm), moderate (4-9 mm), or severe (> 10 mm). The Index of Orthodontic Treatment Need (IOTN) esthetic scale was used to match the participants' malocclusion.¹⁹⁴

Intra-Oral Examination							
17. Oral Habits	Yes No If YES, since when: years						
Which?	Nail Biting Biting Lip/Cheek Bruxism Sucking Thumb/Finger Other:						
18. Horizontal Excess	Overjet: mm						
19. Vertical Excess	Overbite: 0 %						
20. Anterior Open Bite	<i>Open bite</i> : mm						
21. Posterior Open Bite Right	mm mm						
22. Posterior Open Bite Left	mm mm						

Table 2.5 Intra-Oral Examination

	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
23 Odontogram				Е	D	С	В	Α	А	В	С	D	Е			
				Е	D	С	В	Α	А	В	С	D	Е			
	8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
24. Dental Crossbite (including edge-to- edge bite)	Anterior crossbite: Yes; If YES, # of maxillary teeth involved: No Posterior crossbite: Yes Unilateral; If YES, # of maxillary teeth involved: Bilateral No															
25. Narrow Palate		Yes			No											
26. CR/CO Shift	 Yes, specify: Posterior-Anterior Vertically To the Right To the Left 															
27. IntermolarDistance(from lingual groove at gingival margin)																
28. Intercanine Distance (cusp tip to cusp tip)			mm													
29. Tongue Size	1	Norm	nal			Micr	oglo	ssia			M	acro	gloss	sia (F	Relat	ive)
30. Arch Shape	Upp	er: J sha ver: J sha	ape ape				/ sha / sha	ape ape								
31. Palatal Depth			mm													
32. Stage of Dentition	I	Prima	ary		Mix	ed] Pe	rmar	nent	(No j	prim	ary t	eeth	pres	ent)

33. Molar Classification	Permano Right: I Left: I I	ent: (<1/2	cusp = I)	Primary/Mixed: Right: Mesial Step Left: Mesial Step	☐ Flush ☐ Distal Step ☐ Flush ☐ Distal Step
34. Canine Classification (<1/2 cusp = I)	Right: Left:			I I	
35. Space Analysis	Crow Upper: Lower: Spac Upper: Lower:	vding	3 mm 3 mm 3 mm 3 mm	☐ 4-9 mm ☐ 4-9 mm ☐ 4-9 mm ☐ 4-9 mm	 ⇒10mm >10mm >10mm ⇒10mm
36. IOTN Esthetic Scale (match for overall occlusal attractiveness)	1 2 3 4 5				

2.3.4 Polysomnogram

Following the clinical examination, participants underwent a standard level one overnight PSG using XLTEK Sleep Diagnostics equipment with Natus SleepWorks Software (Natus Neurology Incorporated DBA XLTEK, Oakville, ON, Canada). The PSG recording used a 6lead EEG (C3, C4, O1, O2, M1 and M2), two bilateral EOG leads, submental EMG leads and two tibial EMG leads. Respiratory measurements were accomplished with the use of a Braebon Q-RIP Respiratory Inductive Plethysmography kit, Braebon Ultima Nasal Pressure transducer, and Braebon Ultima Airflow Sensor (Braebon Medical Corporation, Kanata, ON, Canada). Oxygen saturation (SaO₂) was recorded with a pulse oximeter (Masimo Corpororation, Irvine, CA, USA). Sensors for transcutaneous carbon dioxide (TcCO₂) (SenTec AG, Therwil, Switzerland) were used and end-tidal carbon dioxide (EtCO₂) was monitored with a BCI Capnocheck Sleep CO₂ Detector (Smiths Medical, Dublin, OH, USA). Video and audio was also recorded during each PSG.

Sleep architecture, respiratory data, oxygen saturation, and carbon dioxide recordings from the PSG were analyzed and scored according to the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) scoring guidelines by a registered polysomnographic technologist.¹⁰ Table 2.6 summarizes the variables that were collected from each PSG.

48

Table 2.6 PSG Recording Variables

PSG Recording Variable
Total Sleep Time (TST) (minutes)
Sleep Efficiency (%)
Wakefulness After Sleep Onset (WASO) (minutes)
Sleep Onset Latency (minutes)
REM Latency (minutes)
%TST in REM Sleep (%)
Arousal Index (# arousals/hour sleep)
Mean and Minimum Oxygen Saturation (%)
Oxygen Desaturation Index (#/hour)
Time spent < 90% Oxygen Saturation (minutes)
Mean Respiratory Rate (bpm)
Mean, Minimum, and Maximum Heart Rate (bpm)
Minimum and Maximum End-Tidal Carbon Dioxide (EtCO ₂) (mmHg)
Minimum and Maximum Transcutaneous Carbon Dioxide (TcCO ₂) (mmHg)
% Time > 50 mmHg EtCO ₂ (%)
% Time > 50 mmHg TcCO ₂ (%)
Central Apnea-Hypopnea Index (# events/hour)
Obstructive Apnea-Hypopnea Index (# events/hour)
Total Apnea-Hypopnea Index (# events/hour)

PSG reporting and the diagnosis of OSA was completed by clinical sleep physicians and respirologists at SickKids. OSA diagnosis and severity was based on measures from the PSG such as: obstructive apnea-hypopnea index (OAHI), mean and minimum oxygen saturations, and percentage of time the level of CO₂ was > 50 mmHg. OSA was diagnosed in children according to the following categories: normal (OAHI < 1), mild OSA ($1 \le OAHI < 5$), moderate OSA ($5 \le OAHI < 10$), and severe OSA (OAHI ≥ 10).⁸

2.3.5 Lateral Cephalogram

In the morning following their polysomnogram, participants presented to the Orthodontic Clinic at SickKids Hospital for a lateral cephalogram. Lateral cephalograms were taken with a PaX-i machine (VATECH America, Fort Lee, NJ, USA) with a setting of 85 kVp and a current of 9 mA. Participants wore a lead apron and thyroid collar during acquisition of the image. Lateral cephalograms were imported into Dolphin version 11.2 (Dolphin Imaging & Management Solutions, Chatsworth, CA, USA) and were traced by one investigator, C.N. The cephalometric measurements that were used for analysis are listed in Table 2.7.

Table 2.7 Cephalometric Measurements

Cephalometric Measurement
Sella-Nasion-A Point (SNA) (°)
Sella-Nasion-B Point (SNB) (°)
A point-Nasion-B point Angle (ANB) (°)
Upper Incisor to NA Distance (U1-NA) (mm)
Lower Incisor to NA Distance (L1-NA) (mm)
Pogonion to NB Distance (Pg-NB) (mm)
Interincisal Angle (°)
Mandibular Length (Co-Gn) (mm)
Maxillary Length (Co-A) (mm)
Unit Length Difference (Co-Gn – Co-A) (mm)
Lower Anterior Face Height (ANS-Me) (mm)
Frankfort Mandibular Plane Angle (MP-SN) (°)
Lower Incisor Protrusion (L1-APo) (mm)
Nasion-ANS (perpendicular to Horizontal Plane) (mm)
ANS-Gn (perpendicular to Horizontal Plane) (mm)
Nasolabial Angle (°)
Incisor Mandibular Plane Angle (L1-MP) (°)
Upper Incisor Palatal Plane Angle (U1-PP) (°)
Wits Appraisal (mm)
Overjet (mm)
Overbite (mm)
Upper Incisor Exposure (mm)

2.4 Statistical Analysis

The study results were summarized using descriptive statistics. Continuous data was presented as medians and interquartile ranges, while categorical variables were presented as counts and percentages. Due to a small sample size, non-parametric statistical tests were performed. Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare continuous data between participants with OSA and without OSA within DS and Obesity groups. Spearman correlation coefficients were used to determine the relationship between continuous variables from the clinical examination and lateral cephalograms with OAHI. The diagnostic abilities of the two questionnaires were summarized with receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves, sensitivities, specificities, and odds ratios.

Intra-rater reliability testing was performed for the lateral cephalometric measurements. To calculate the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC), ten randomly selected lateral cephalograms (5 from the DS group and 5 from the Obesity group) were re-traced 4 months after the initial tracing, producing two sets of 22 cephalometric measurements from 10 patients. ICC were calculated for each of the 22 cephalometric measurements using a 95% confidence interval. Multivariable regression analysis was not completed due to the overall small sample size. Data analysis and statistics were completed with SAS software version 9.4 (North Carolina, USA) and IBM SPSS software version 23 (Armonk, New York, USA).

2.5 Study Outcomes

The primary outcome was the prevalence of dentofacial abnormalities and malocclusions in two pediatric cohorts of DS or Obesity who were referred for a polysomnogram because of a history of query OSA. Our secondary outcome measure was the identification of clinical factors that can predict the obstructive apnea-hypopnea index (OAHI), a measure of the OSA severity, in these referred cohorts of children.

2.6 Hypothesis

Our study hypothesis was that there is an increased prevalence of dentofacial abnormalities and malocclusions in children in both the DS group and Obesity group with OSA as compared to those with these conditions without a PSG determined diagnosis of OSA.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Study Participants

Overall, sixty-eight children were approached to participate in this study over a recruitment period of 16 months (October 2016 – February 2018). Thirteen (19.1%) did not consent and the most common reason for declining participation was due to being unable to complete all study procedures, specifically the lateral cephalogram. Of the remaining fifty-five participants, thirteen (23.6%) did not have a lateral cephalogram taken. The final study sample consisted of forty two patients (DS = 20, Obesity = 22). The demographic information for the study sample is summarized in Table 3.1.

Characteristics	DS (n = 20)	Obesity (n = 22)	р			
Age (Years)	11.5 (5.4)	12.9 (6.5)	0.33			
Male	12 (60%)	14 (64%)	0.81			
Height (cm)	136.3 (28)	161.3 (30.5)	< 0.01*			
Weight (kg)	49.4 (36.3)	92.5 (71.4)	< 0.01*			
BMI (kg/m ²)	22.7 (9.7)	37.5 (16.7)	< 0.01*			
BMI Centile	75 (25.6)	99.0 (0.3)	< 0.01*			
No OSA	3 (15%)	8 (36.4%)	0.12			
OSA (OAHI > 1)	17 (85%)	14 (63.6%)	0.12			
Adenotonsillectomy	15 (75%)	11 (50%)	0.10			
Mouth Breather	17 (85%)	16 (73%)	0.33			
Continuous variables are expressed as median (interquartile range)						
Categorical variables are expressed as n (%)						
*Statistically Significant as defined by $p < 0.05$						

Table 3.1 Demographic Information for the Study Cohort

Compared to the DS group, the Obesity group was taller (p < 0.01), heavier (p < 0.01), and had and increased BMI (p < 0.01) and BMI centile (p < 0.01). OSA appeared to be more common in the DS group (85%) compared to the Obesity group (63.6%), although not statistically significant (p = 0.12). OSA was defined based on PSG findings of OAHI > 1 and the sample was further divided into 4 groups: 1) DS (n = 3); 2) DS with OSA (n = 17); 3) Obesity (n = 8); and 4) Obesity with OSA (n = 14).

3.2 Clinical Orthodontic Examination Results

Features of the study participants identified during the clinical orthodontic examination for the DS and Obesity groups are summarized in Table 3.2 and Table 3.3, respectively.

Frequency of Clinical Features	DS (n = 3)	DS with OSA (n = 17)	р
Normal LFH	2	7	
Increased LFH	-	-	0.41
Decreased LFH	1	10	
Straight Profile	1	6	
Convex Profile	1	1	0.33
Concave Profile	1	10	
Orthognathic Mx	2	6	
Retrognathic Mx	1	11	0.31
Prognathic Mx	-	-	
Orthognathic Md	2	14	
Retrognathic Md	1	1	0.31
Prognathic Md	-	2	
Normal Tongue Size	2	4	
Microglossia	-	1	0.32
Macroglossia (Relative)	1	12	
Class I	3	8	
Class II	-	2	0.27
Class III	-	7	

 Table 3.2 The Frequency of Clinical Examination Features of the DS Group

Frequency of Clinical Features	Obesity (n = 8)	Obesity with OSA (n = 14)	р
Normal LFH	4	10	
Increased LFH	2	3	0.45
Decreased LFH	2	1	
Straight Profile	5	5	
Convex Profile	3	9	0.23
Concave Profile	-	-	
Orthognathic Mx	8	14	
Retrognathic Mx	-	-	-
Prognathic Mx	-	-	
Orthognathic Md	5	5	
Retrognathic Md	3	9	0.23
Prognathic Md	-	-	
Normal Tongue Size	7	13	
Microglossia	-	-	0.67
Macroglossia (Relative)	1	1	
Class I	7	9	
Class II	0	3	0.35
Class III	1	2	

Table 3.3 The Frequency of Clinical Examination Features of the Obesity Group

Upon clinical orthodontic examination, DS with OSA appeared to frequently present with a decreased lower face height (LFH), concave profile, retrognathic maxilla, relative macroglossia, and Class III malocclusion compared to DS without OSA. However, these findings were not statistically significant between DS with OSA and without OSA. Obesity with OSA appeared to present with a convex profile and retrognathic mandible compared to Obesity without OSA. However, these frequencies were also not statistically significant between Obesity with OSA and without OSA. Measurements made during the clinical orthodontic examination for the DS and Obesity groups are summarized in Table 3.4 and Table 3.5, respectively.

Measured Variables	DS (n = 3)	DS with OSA (n = 17)	р
Incisor Display at Rest (mm)	0	0 (1.5)	0.62
Gingival Display on Smile (mm)	0	0	0.49
Incisor Display on Smile (mm)	3.0	3.0 (3.8)	0.88
Overjet (mm)	2.0	-0.25 (2.3)	0.21
Overbite (%)	0	2.5 (20)	0.21
Intermolar Distance (mm)	30.5	32.5 (4.3)	0.36
Intercanine Distance (mm)	28.0	29.0 (4.8)	0.62
Palatal Depth (mm)	15.0	20.5 (5.1)	< 0.01*
Median (Interquartile Range); *Statistically Significant as defined by p < 0.05			

 Table 3.4 Clinical Examination Measurements for the DS Group

 Table 3.5 Clinical Examination Measurements for the Obesity Group

Measured Variables	Obesity (n = 8)	Obesity with OSA (n = 14)	р
Incisor Display at Rest (mm)	2.0 (2.8)	1.5 (2.0)	0.57
Gingival Display on Smile (mm)	0 (1.0)	0 (0.3)	0.71
Incisor Display on Smile (mm)	6.0 (4.5)	9.5 (4.0)	0.15
Overjet (mm)	3.0 (2.4)	2.0 (3.3)	0.87
Overbite (%)	40.0 (43.8)	30.0 (42.5)	0.71
Intermolar Distance (mm)	36.5 (7.6)	38.8 (6.9)	0.30
Intercanine Distance (mm)	33.8 (7.4)	32.7 (4.1)	0.66
Palatal Depth (mm)	22.3 (3.4)	23.0 (7.8)	0.92
Median (Interquartile Range); *Statistically Significant as defined by $p < 0.05$			

DS with OSA had a significantly deeper palatal vault compared to DS without OSA (p <

0.01). None of the clinical measurements were significantly different between Obesity with

OSA and without OSA.

Table 3.6 and Table 3.7 shows the correlation between the clinical examination

measurement and OAHI for the DS and Obesity groups, respectively.

Table 3.6 The Correlation Between Clinical Examination Measurements and OAHI for the DS Group

Measured Variables	Spearman's Correlation Coefficient	р	
Incisor Display at Rest (mm)	0.15	0.54	
Gingival Display on Smile (mm)	0.03	0.90	
Incisor Display on Smile (mm)	0.17	0.48	
Overjet (mm)	0.03	0.92	
Overbite (%)	0.14	0.58	
Intermolar Distance (mm)	0.42	0.07	
Intercanine Distance (mm)	0.48	0.03*	
Palatal Depth (mm)	0.42	0.08	
*Statistically Significant as defined by $p < 0.05$			

Measured Variables	Spearman's Correlation Coefficient	р	
Incisor Display at Rest (mm)	-0.18	0.42	
Gingival Display on Smile (mm)	0.15	0.52	
Incisor Display on Smile (mm)	0.17	0.44	
Overjet (mm)	0.01	0.98	
Overbite (%)	0.002	0.99	
Intermolar Distance (mm)	0.09	0.70	
Intercanine Distance (mm)	-0.16	0.49	
Palatal Depth (mm)	-0.04	0.85	
*Statistically Significant as defined by $p < 0.05$			

 Table 3.7 The Correlation Between Clinical Examination Measurements and OAHI for the Obesity Group

Intercanine distance (Spearman's correlation coefficient = 0.48, p = 0.03) for the DS group was significantly correlated to OAHI. Figure 3.1 shows a positive relationship between DS intercanine distance and OAHI.



Figure 3.1 The Correlation Between Intercanine Distance (mm) and OAHI for the DS Group (r = 0.48, p = 0.03)

3.3 Polysomnography Results

Table 3.8 and Table 3.9 below summarize the findings from the overnight PSG

recordings for DS and Obesity groups, respectively.

PSG Re	cording	DS (n = 3)	DS with OSA (n = 17)	р
Total Sleep (Min	Time (TST) utes)	436.5	391 (63.3)	0.01*
Sleep Effic	ciency (%)	93.6	82.9 (17)	0.31
Wakefulness After Sleep Onset (WASO; Minutes)		20.0	41.0 (59.3)	0.55
Sleep Onset Lat	tency (Minutes)	13.6	20.8 (42.3)	0.55
REM Laten	cy (Minutes)	218.5	201.5 (119.0)	0.92
% TST in l	REM Sleep	18.0	12.0 (9.0)	0.48
Arousal Index (# arousals/hour sleep)		10.6	14.8 (13.0)	0.09
Oxygen	Mean (%)	96	96 (3)	> 0.99
Saturation	Minimum (%)	92	85 (9.5)	0.01*
Oxygen Desaturation Index (#/hour sleep)		1.7	16.6 (30.6)	< 0.01*
Time Spent < 90% Oxygen Saturation (Minutes)		0	1.3 (16.9)	0.02*
Mean Respiratory Rate (bpm)		20.8	18.4 (10.6)	0.45
	Mean	78.9	74.4 (15)	0.82
Heart Rate (bpm)	Minimum	56.5	53 (14.7)	0.22
(~ p)	Maximum	119.0	127.1 (21.8)	0.69
	EtCO ₂ Min	36	38 (5)	0.77
CO ₂ (mmHa)	EtCO ₂ Max	46	53 (6.8)	0.14
CO_2 (mmrg)	TcCO ₂ Min	38	40 (5.5)	0.36
	TcCO ₂ Max	50	50 (4)	0.77
% Time > 50 mmHg EtCO ₂ (%)		0.10	2.3 (10)	0.12
% Time > 50 mmHg TcCO ₂ (%)		0	0.8 (7.2)	0.18
CAI (# events/hour)		0.5	0.8 (4.6)	0.62
OAHI (# events/hour)		0.26	13.7 (33.4)	< 0.01*
AHI (# events/hour)		1.0	14.7 (26.6)	< 0.01*
Median (Interquartile Range); *Statistically Significant as defined by $p < 0.05$				

 Table 3.8 PSG Recording Measurements for the DS Group

PSG Re	cording	Obesity (n = 8)	Obesity with OSA (n = 14)	р
Total Sleep (Min	Time (TST) utes)	391.3 (102.0)	375.5 (96.1)	0.44
Sleep Effic	ciency (%)	87.8 (20)	86.8 (23)	0.82
Wake After (WASO;	Sleep Onset Minutes)	22.3 (30.1)	23.3 (78.5)	0.48
Sleep Onset Lat	tency (Minutes)	16.8 (21.7)	18.2 (30.2)	0.87
REM Laten	cy (Minutes)	151.0 (61.5)	118.8 (146.6)	0.86
% TST in l	REM Sleep	14.8 (8.8)	17.7 (8.7)	0.57
Arousal Index (# arousals/hour sleep)		10.0 (5.3)	12.7 (5.0)	0.21
Oxygen	Mean (%)	97 (2)	97 (1)	0.48
Saturation	Minimum (%)	91.5 (3)	88.5 (7)	0.03*
Oxygen Desaturation Index (#/hour sleep)		1.6 (3.9)	5.0 (11.5)	0.02*
Time Spent < 90% Oxygen Saturation (Minutes)		0 (0.1)	0.1 (1.4)	0.10
Mean Respiratory Rate (bpm)		19.3 (14.9)	18.5 (12.0)	0.44
	Mean	76.8 (17.4)	83.3 (18.0)	0.66
Heart Rate (bpm)	Minimum	58.5 (22.8)	61.6 (21.7)	0.92
(~ F)	Maximum	116.8 (21.4)	122.7 (14.4)	0.48
	EtCO ₂ Min	35.0 (7.0)	33.0 (10.0)	0.58
CO ₂ (mmHg)	EtCO ₂ Max	47.0 (8.5)	49.0 (7.0)	0.74
	TcCO ₂ Min	38.0 (5.3)	37.5 (8.5)	0.40
	TcCO ₂ Max	46.5 (3.8)	46.0 (5.5)	0.92
% Time > 50 mmHg EtCO ₂ (%)		0.05 (3.4)	0.05 (0.3)	0.71
% Time > 50 mmHg TcCO ₂ (%)		0 (0)	0 (0)	0.92
CAI (# events/hour)		0.4 (1.4)	0.6 (2.0)	0.97
OAHI (# events/hour)		0.6 (0.8)	3.9 (11.9)	< 0.01*
AHI (# events/hour)		1.5 (2.2)	5.9 (12.7)	0.01*
Median (Interquartile Range); *Statistically Significant as defined by $p < 0.05$				

Table 3.9 PSG Recording Measurements for the Obesity Group
DS with OSA had a statistically significant decreased total sleep time (p = 0.01) and minimum percent oxygen saturation (p = 0.01) than DS without OSA. DS with OSA also had a statistically significant greater oxygen desaturation index (p < 0.01), time spent < 90% oxygen saturation (p = 0.02), OAHI (p < 0.01), and AHI (p < 0.01) score than DS without OSA.

Obesity with OSA had a lower minimum percent oxygen saturation (p = 0.03) than obesity without OSA. Obesity with OSA also had a greater time spent with < 90% oxygen saturation (p = 0.02), OAHI (p < 0.01), and AHI (p = 0.01) score than obesity without OSA.

3.4 Lateral Cephalometric Results

Lateral cephalograms were traced and measurements were calculated by Dolphin version 11.2 (Dolphin Imaging & Management Solutions, Chatsworth, CA, USA). The measurements for the DS and Obesity groups are listed in Table 3.10 and Table 3.11, respectively.

Cephalometric Measurement	DS (n = 3)	DS with OSA (n = 17)	р
SNA (°)	77.8	78.8 (8.3)	0.62
SNB (°)	73.8	80.4 (7.4)	0.26
ANB (°)	2.9	0.4 (6.8)	0.22
U1-NA (mm)	1.5	4.6 (4.3)	0.31
L1-NB (mm)	3.5	5.9 (3.3)	0.42
Pog-NB (mm)	-0.1	-0.4 (2.2)	0.62
Interincisal Angle (U1-L1) (°)	127.9	120 (18.1)	0.69
Mandibular Length (Co-Gn) (mm)	94.1	97.2 (14.2)	0.77
Midface Length (Co-A) (mm)	74.5	71.3 (8)	0.36
Mx/Md Diff (Co-Gn - Co-A) (mm)	19.7	26.4 (9.1)	0.12
FMA (Md Plane-SN) (°)	41.0	34.6 (10.8)	0.36
LAFH (ANS-Me) (mm)	55.2	56.7 (10.0)	0.62
L1 Protrusion (L1-APo)	1.3	5.3 (4.5)	0.18
N-ANS (perp HP) (mm)	42.1	42.1 (5.6)	0.77
ANS-Gn (perp HP)	48.6	54.7 (11.4)	0.12
Nasolabial angle (Col-Sn-UL) (°)	100.6	106.2 (15.2)	0.48
IMPA (L1-MP) (°)	91.6	100.5 (7.8)	0.48
U1-PP (°)	119.3	117.2 (15.6)	> 0.99
Wits appraisal (mm)	-1.1	-1.9 (5.7)	0.42
Overjet (mm)	1.4	0.2 (4.9)	0.26
Overbite (mm)	-1.6	-1.7 (8)	0.62
Upper 1 Exposure (mm)	0.9	-0.6 (4.4)	0.36
Median (Interquartile Range)			

Table 3.10 Cephalometric Measurements for the DS Group

Cephalometric Measurement	Obesity (n = 8)	Obesity with OSA (n = 14)	р		
SNA (°)	84.6 (9.8)	85.2 (10.0)	0.62		
SNB (°)	82.6 (10.8)	81.5 (4.9)	0.53		
ANB (°)	1.5 (1.9)	4.3 (4.1)	0.03*		
U1-NA (mm)	4.7 (4.1)	3.7 (3.9)	0.30		
L1-NB (mm)	2.6 (4.7)	4.3 (4.6)	0.19		
Pog-NB (mm)	2.6 (6.4)	-0.15 (3.7)	0.11		
Interincisal Angle (U1-L1) (°)	130.2 (24.9)	126.8 (22.8)	0.66		
Mandibular Length (Co-Gn) (mm)	116.9 (18.9)	107.9 (13.9)	0.40		
Midface Length (Co-A) (mm)	83.2 (11.2)	80.6 (8.0)	0.57		
Mx/Md Diff (Co-Gn - Co-A) (mm)	31.1 (10.5)	27.7 (8.6)	0.30		
FMA (Md Plane-SN) (°)	26.8 (19.0)	36.4 (8.1)	0.21		
LAFH (ANS-Me) (mm)	61.5 (14.6)	64.7 (9.0)	0.66		
L1 Protrusion (L1-APo)	0.7 (6.9)	2.1 (5.3)	0.66		
N-ANS (perp HP) (mm)	48.1 (11.3)	48.4 (5.1)	0.87		
ANS-Gn (perp HP)	60.5 (16.3)	62.8 (9.6)	0.82		
Nasolabial angle (Col-Sn-UL) (°)	108.3 (19.4)	110.6 (21.2)	0.33		
IMPA (L1-MP) (°)	91.6 (7.8)	89.2 (8.6)	0.48		
U1-PP (°)	114.4 (20.5)	110.9 (13.2)	0.62		
Wits appraisal (mm)	-1.8 (2.4)	-1.9 (5.4)	0.97		
Overjet (mm)	2.7 (2.0)	3.3 (3.5)	0.82		
Overbite (mm)	0.3 (3.4)	0.6 (3.6)	0.57		
Upper 1 Exposure (mm)	4.1 (3.6)	3.9 (5.4)	0.76		
Median (Interquartile Range); *Statistically Significant as defined by p < 0.05					

 Table 3.11 Cephalometric Measurements for the Obesity Group

For the DS group, there were no statistically significant differences between those with OSA and those without OSA. ANB angle was significantly greater in Obesity with OSA compared to those without OSA (p = 0.03). Table 3.12 and Table 3.13 show the correlation

between cephalometric measurements and OAHI for both the DS and Obesity groups,

respectively.

Cephalometric Measurement	Spearman's Correlation Coefficient	р
SNA (°)	0.17	0.47
SNB (°)	0.29	0.21
ANB (°)	-0.35	0.13
U1-NA (mm)	0.22	0.34
L1-NB (mm)	0.09	0.72
Pog-NB (mm)	-0.17	0.48
Interincisal Angle (U1-L1) (°)	0.05	0.85
Mandibular Length (Co-Gn) (mm)	0.14	0.55
Midface Length (Co-A) (mm)	-0.13	0.59
Mx/Md Diff (Co-Gn - Co-A) (mm)	0.30	0.20
FMA (Md Plane-SN) (°)	-0.15	0.52
LAFH (ANS-Me) (mm)	0.11	0.66
L1 Protrusion (L1-APo)	0.31	0.19
N-ANS (perp HP) (mm)	-0.24	0.31
ANS-Gn (perp HP)	0.27	0.26
Nasolabial angle (Col-Sn-UL) (°)	0.17	0.47
IMPA (L1-MP) (°)	0.03	0.91
U1-PP (°)	-0.16	0.50
Wits appraisal (mm)	-0.14	0.57
Overjet (mm)	-0.10	0.68
Overbite (mm)	0.18	0.45
Upper 1 Exposure (mm)	0.08	0.75

Table 3.12 The Correlation Between Cephalometric Measurements and OAHI for the DS Group

Cephalometric Measurement	Spearman's Correlation Coefficient	р
SNA (°)	0.16	0.48
SNB (°)	-0.25	0.27
ANB (°)	0.58	< 0.01*
U1-NA (mm)	-0.53	0.01*
L1-NB (mm)	0.17	0.44
Pog-NB (mm)	-0.33	0.14
Interincisal Angle (U1-L1) (°)	0.14	0.53
Mandibular Length (Co-Gn) (mm)	-0.32	0.15
Midface Length (Co-A) (mm)	-0.28	0.21
Mx/Md Diff (Co-Gn - Co-A) (mm)	-0.35	0.11
FMA (Md Plane-SN) (°)	0.33	0.14
LAFH (ANS-Me) (mm)	-0.01	0.95
L1 Protrusion (L1-APo)	-0.05	0.82
N-ANS (perp HP) (mm)	-0.03	0.90
ANS-Gn (perp HP)	-0.07	0.77
Nasolabial angle (Col-Sn-UL) (°)	0.19	0.40
IMPA (L1-MP) (°)	-0.02	0.39
U1-PP (°)	-0.41	0.06
Wits appraisal (mm)	0.02	0.94
Overjet (mm)	0.04	0.86
Overbite (mm)	0.18	0.42
Upper 1 Exposure (mm)	-0.08	0.72
*Statistically Significant as defined by p	< 0.05	

 Table 3.13 The Correlation Between Cephalometric Measurements and OAHI for the Obesity Group

None of the cephalometric measurements for the DS group were significantly correlated with OAHI. For the Obesity group, ANB angle (Spearman correlation coefficient = 0.58, p <

0.01) and Upper Incisor to Nasion-A point distance (Spearman correlation coefficient = -0.53, p = 0.01) were significantly correlated with OAHI. Figure 3.2 shows a positive relationship between ANB angle and OAHI in the Obesity group, while Figure 3.3 shows a negative relationship between upper incisor distance to nasion-A point line and OAHI in the Obesity group.



Figure 3.2 The Correlation Between ANB Angle and OAHI in the Obesity Group (r = 0.58, p < 0.01)



Figure 3.3 The Correlation between Upper Incisor to NA Plane (mm) and OAHI in the Obesity Group (r = -0.53, p = 0.01)

3.5 Intra-Class Correlation Coefficient

To test intra-examiner reliability, after 4 months of the first cephalometric tracing and measurements, cephalograms for 10 randomly selected subjects (5 subjects from the DS group and 5 subjects in the Obesity group) were retraced and cephalometric analysis was performed again, using the same method and cephalometric software as used in the first tracing and analysis. These two sets of measurements in 10 subjects were used to determine the intra-class correlation coefficients (Table 3.14). Each of the 22 cephalometric measurements had an ICC > 0.9, demonstrating excellent agreement between each of the measurements at the two time points.

Cephalometric Measurement	Intra-Class Correlation Coefficient	95% Confidence Interval	р
SNA (°)	0.993	0.971 to 0.998	< 0.01
SNB (°)	0.996	0.985 to 0.999	< 0.01
ANB (°)	0.979	0.917 to 0.995	< 0.01
U1-NA (mm)	0.991	0.963 to 0.998	< 0.01
L1-NB (mm)	0.987	0.949 to 0.997	< 0.01
Pog-NB (mm)	0.957	0.826 to 0.989	< 0.01
Interincisal Angle (U1-L1) (°)	0.991	0.965 to 0.998	< 0.01
Mandibular Length (Co-Gn) (mm)	0.993	0.974 to 0.998	< 0.01
Midface Length (Co-A) (mm)	0.977	0.906 to 0.994	< 0.01
Mx/Md Diff (Co-Gn - Co-A) (mm)	0.993	0.973 to 0.998	< 0.01
FMA (Md Plane-SN) (°)	0.993	0.971 to 0.998	< 0.01
LAFH (ANS-Me) (mm)	0.994	0.974 to 0.998	< 0.01
L1 Protrusion (L1-APo)	0.994	0.977 to 0.999	< 0.01
N-ANS (perp HP) (mm)	0.992	0.968 to 0.998	< 0.01
ANS-Gn (perp HP)	0.993	0.971 to 0.998	< 0.01
Nasolabial angle (Col-Sn-UL) (°)	0.966	0.863 to 0.992	< 0.01
IMPA (L1-MP) (°)	0.983	0.933 to 0.996	< 0.01
U1-PP (°)	0.972	0.889 to 0.993	< 0.01
Wits appraisal (mm)	0.965	0.861 to 0.991	< 0.01
Overjet (mm)	0.995	0.979 to 0.999	< 0.01
Overbite (mm)	0.972	0.885 to 0.993	< 0.01
Upper 1 Exposure (mm)	0.989	0.954 to 0.997	< 0.01

Table 3.14 Intra-Class Correlation Coefficient for all 22 Cephalometric MeasurementsRecorded 4 months Apart

3.6 Sleep Questionnaire Results

The 2 x 2 contingency tables for the Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire for the diagnosis of OSA are shown in Table 3.15 and Table 3.16 for the DS and Obesity groups, respectively.

 Table 3.15 Contingency Table for the Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire and the

 Diagnosis of OSA for the DS Group

DC		OSA (OAHI > 1.0)		
D5		Yes No		
Spruyt and Gozal	Yes	3	1	
Score > 2.72	No	14	2	

 Table 3.16 Contingency Table for the Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire and the

 Diagnosis of OSA for the Obesity Group

Oberitre		OSA (OAHI > 1.0)		
Obesity	Yes	No		
Spruyt and Gozal	pruyt and Gozal Yes	3	0	
Score > 2.72	No	11	8	

The Spruyt and Gozal Questionnaire was able to correctly identify children who have OSA (OAHI > 1.0) with a sensitivity of 17.7% and specificity of 66.7% for the DS group. A sensitivity of 21.4% and specificity of 100% were calculated for the Obesity group. The odds ratio for DS having OSA with a Spruyt and Gozal score that was greater than 2.72 was 0.4 (95% confidence interval (0.03-6.4), p = 0.54). The odds ratio for Obesity having OSA with a Spruyt and Gozal score that was greater than 2.72 was 5.2 (95% confidence interval (0.2-114.1), p = 0.54).

0.30). Neither of these odds ratios were significant. Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves for the Spruyt and Gozal questionnaire to screen for OSA in the DS and Obesity groups are shown in Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.5, respectively. Both curves closely approximate the straight diagonal reference line, suggesting that the Spruyt and Gozal questionnaire is a poor screening tool for OSA diagnosis in both the DS and Obesity groups.



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Figure 3.4 ROC Curve for Spruyt & Gozal Questionnaire for screening OSA in the DS Group (Blue = ROC Curve; Green = Diagonal reference line; Area under the curve = 0.58; Standard error = 0.19)



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Figure 3.5 ROC Curve for Spruyt & Gozal Questionnaire for screening OSA in the Obesity Group (Blue = ROC Curve; Green = Diagonal reference line; Area under the curve = 0.46; Standard error = 0.13)

Likewise, the 2 x 2 contingency tables for the SRBD scale of the PSQ for the diagnosis of OSA are shown in Table 3.17 and Table 3.18 for the DS and Obesity groups, respectively.

Table 3.17 Contingency Table for the SRBD Scale of the PSQ and the Diagnosis of OSA forthe DS Group

DC		OSA (OAHI > 1.0)		
D5		Yes	No	
SRBD Score >	Yes	12	2	
0.33	No	5	1	

Table 3.18 Contingency Table for the SRBD Scale of the PSQ and the Diagnosis of OSA forthe Obesity Group

Obesity		OSA (OAHI > 1.0)		
		Yes	No	
SRBD Score > Yes	Yes	9	6	
0.33	No	5	2	

The SRBD scale of the PSQ was able to identify DS with OSA (OAHI > 1) with a sensitivity of 70.6% and specificity of 33.3%. For the Obesity group, a sensitivity of 64.3% and specificity of 25.0% were calculated. The odds ratio for the children with OSA having a SRBD score that was greater than 0.33 was 1.2 for the DS group (95% confidence interval = 0.09-16.4, p = 0.89) and 0.6 for the Obesity group (95% confidence interval = 0.08-4.1, p = 0.61). ROC curves for the SRBD scale of the PSQ to screen for OSA in the DS and Obesity groups are shown in Figure 3.6 and Figure 3.7, respectively. Both curves closely approximate the straight diagonal reference line, suggesting that the SRBD scale of the PSQ is a poor screening tool for OSA diagnosis in DS and Obesity groups.





Figure 3.6 ROC Curve for SRBD scale of the PSQ for screening OSA in the DS Group

(Blue = ROC Curve; Green = Diagonal reference line; Area under the curve = 0.48;

Standard error = 0.19)



Diagonal segments are produced by ties.

Figure 3.7 ROC Curve for SRBD scale of the PSQ for screening OSA in the Obesity Group (Blue = ROC Curve; Green = Diagonal reference line; Area under the curve = 0.36; Standard error = 0.12)

Table 3.19 summarizes the correlation with OAHI for the Spruyt and Gozal scores and SRBD scores for both the DS and Obesity groups. None of the relationships were statistically significant.

Table 3.19 The Correlation Between Questionnaire Scores and OAHI for Each of the DSand Obesity Cohorts

Group	Questionnaire	Spearman's Correlation Coefficient	р
DC	Spruyt & Gozal Score vs. OAHI	0.23	0.33
DS	SRBD Score vs. OAHI	0.33	0.16
Obasity	Spruyt & Gozal Score vs. OAHI	0.26	0.24
Obesity	SRBD Score vs. OAHI	-0.06	0.79

Chapter 4: Discussion

We are reporting for the first time on dentofacial and craniofacial predictors of PSG confirmed pediatric OSA in DS and Obesity populations. We have identified simple clinical and radiographic measurements that can be collected at minimal cost and effort in these two populations. OSA predictors identified in the DS group include palatal depth (p < 0.01) and maxillary intercanine distance (p = 0.03), while those in the Obesity group include ANB angle (p = 0.03) and upper incisor position (p = 0.01).

PSG findings identified DS and Obesity individuals with OSA as defined by an OAHI > 1. OSA was diagnosed in 85% of the DS group and in 63.6% of the Obesity group (p = 0.12). The children were examined clinically and were evaluated in all three planes of space: vertical, transverse, and anterior-posterior. It was found that none of the dentofacial features were more frequently identified in children with OSA and without OSA in either the DS or Obesity groups. Clinical measurements showed no statistically significant differences between Obesity with and without OSA. For the DS group, it was found that those with OSA had a deeper palatal vault compared to those without OSA (p < 0.01). However, the median age for the DS group without OSA was 8.9 years compared to 12.6 years for children with OSA. One potential explanation for this finding is that the greater palatal depth found in the DS group with OSA was due to regular growth. The maxilla grows vertically and remodels with deposition on the nasal floor side and resorption on the palatal side, according to Enlow's "V" principle.^{195,196} However, it has been shown that children with obstructed breathing present with higher palatal vaults than those without breathing disorders, and the effects of OSA on these children may have contributed to the higher palatal vaults.^{56,183,197}

We found a positive correlation of maxillary intercanine width with OAHI (r = 0.48, p =0.03) in the DS group. This transverse measurement can be performed clinically or on dental models but cannot be measured on a lateral cephalogram due to the projection of the x-ray beam, which only allows for anterior-posterior and vertical measurements. This result does not agree with the findings from a similar study on predictors of OSA reported by Skotko *et al*, who were unable to identify any clinical measurements that positively predicted the presence of OSA in DS patients between the ages of 3 and 24 years.¹¹¹ These differences may be due to the parameters used to define OSA as this study used an AASM scored OAHI > 1 per hour while theirs used an AASM scored AHI > 1 per hour. AHI scoring includes both central and obstructive events while OAHI only includes obstructive events.¹⁰ Therefore, our definition and methods of determining OSA was more appropriate in identifying predictors of OSA that are related to dentofacial and craniofacial features. We also found that as the intercanine width increases in the DS group, the severity of OAHI also increases. It would be expected that a narrower maxilla and therefore a decreased intercanine width would be present in most patients with airway obstruction.¹⁹⁷ However, in the DS population, the most common dentofacial abnormality is a fissured tongue and relative macroglossia.⁴⁰ Individuals with DS also have tongue protrusion, maxillary hypoplasia, and peri-oral muscular hypotonia, which may result in buccally directed forces on the maxillary canines, resulting in an increased intercanine distance.¹⁹⁸ To further illustrate that increased tongue volume or posture seen in DS individuals may be related to increased intercanine distance, the opposite scenario can be considered, in which patients with ankyloglossia were shown to have decreased maxillary intercanine width and patients who underwent partial glossectomy had decreased resting tongue pressures on the maxillary teeth.^{199,200} Therefore, the relationship between OAHI and intercanine width identified in the DS

group may be a result of a combination of the underlying dentofacial and craniofacial anomalies of DS.

There were no differences between lateral cephalometric measurements in DS with OSA and without OSA. As well, for the DS group, none of the cephalometric measurements were correlated to OAHI. These findings are similar to those reported by Skotko *et al.* who also didn't find any cephalometric predictors of OSA in children with DS.¹¹¹

The present study found that ANB angle was significantly increased in Obesity with OSA compared to those without OSA (p = 0.03). ANB angle was also positively correlated to OAHI in the Obesity group (r = 0.58, p < 0.01). A greater ANB angle suggests that the mandible is more posteriorly positioned relative to the maxilla, resulting in an anteroposterior discrepancy. A retrognathic or posteriorly positioned mandible is associated with a smaller upper airway and after mandibular advancement, oropharyngeal diameter was increased and collapsibility was decreased.^{201,202} Lowe *et al.* reported that a higher apnea index was seen in association with greater anteroposterior discrepancy between the maxilla and mandible as measured on lateral cephalograms in 80 non-obese participants (29.9 ± 7.6 years) with PSG confirmed OSA (AHI > 5 per hour).²⁰¹ Laxmi *et al.* reported that in a sample of 25-45 year old adults, ANB angle was significantly increased in questionnaire determined OSA patients.¹⁵¹ Both of these studies described similar findings to ours but in adult populations, highlighting the importance of early detection as these craniofacial features can persist into adulthood.¹⁵¹

Another cephalometric measurement that was correlated with OAHI in the Obesity group was upper incisor distance to nasion-A point line (U1-NA) (r = -0.53, p = 0.01). This relationship was negative, suggesting that the greater the OAHI, the more posteriorly positioned

or retruded the upper incisors were. This finding is consistent with those presented by Subtelny and Solow who identified that the upper incisors are retroclined and retruded relative to the anterior cranial base in children who were mouth breathers.^{203,204} However, Gungor *et al.* reported that the upper incisor was significantly protrusive in non-obese OSA adult patients as determined by an AHI > 10.²⁰⁵ This difference between childhood and adulthood may be due to the development of a lower lip trap between the upper and lower incisors when trying to achieve lip competency, causing proclination and protrusion of the upper incisors as the individual ages.²⁰⁶

As expected, both the DS and Obesity groups with OSA had significantly increased OAHI (p < 0.01 for both DS and obese) and AHI (p < 0.01 for DS, p = 0.01 for obese) compared to those without OSA. DS with OSA had significantly decreased total sleep time (p = 0.01) and minimum percent oxygen saturation (p = 0.01) than DS children without OSA. DS with OSA also had a statistically significant greater oxygen desaturation index (p < 0.01) and time spent < 90% oxygen saturation (p = 0.02) than DS without OSA. Obesity with OSA had a statistically significant lower minimum percent oxygen saturation (p = 0.03) than Obesity without OSA. Obesity with OSA also had a greater time spent with < 90% oxygen saturation (p = 0.02) than Obesity without OSA. These findings are expected as obstructive events are associated with oxygen desaturations (increased time with oxygen saturations less than 90% and increased desaturation index) and/or cortical arousals leading to sleep fragmentation and shorter total sleep time.

The Spruyt and Gozal sleep questionnaire had poor predictive ability for OSA. Compared to the sensitivity of 59.03% that was originally reported by Spruyt and Gozal, the sensitivity found in our study population was greatly reduced for both the DS and Obesity groups (DS = 17.7%, Obesity = 18.2%).¹³⁶ The specificities that we calculated for the DS (66.7%) and Obesity (90.9%) groups were not similar to that reported by Spruyt and Gozal (82.85%).¹³⁶ These differences may be because the original questionnaire was validated on healthy non-syndromic children without comorbidities.¹³⁶ Furthermore, there was no significant correlation found between Spruyt and Gozal scores and OAHI scores, suggesting that the Spruyt and Gozal sleep questionnaire is an unreliable diagnostic tool for pediatric OSA in DS and obese pediatric populations.

Chervin *et al.* reported that a SRBD score cutoff of 0.33 had a sensitivity of 85% and specificity of 87%.¹²⁷ The sensitivities that were calculated for the DS (70.6%) and Obesity (81.8%) groups were fairly similar to the 85% sensitivity value reported in the original validation study. However, the specificities were greatly reduced for both the DS (33.3%) and Obesity (45.5%) groups. As well, the SRBD score was not correlated to the severity of OAHI. The SRBD of the PSQ had a better predictive ability to identify those of the DS and Obesity group at risk of OSA compared to the Spruyt and Gozal sleep questionnaire. However, the SRBD was less successful than the Spruyt and Gozal sleep questionnaire at identifying individuals that did not have OSA. Overall, the two sleep questionnaires used in this study have limited accuracy as screening tools for diagnosing OSA in DS and obese pediatric populations. Likewise, Schechter *et al.* and Lin *et al.* would not recommend the use of sleep questionnaires for the diagnosis of pediatric OSA.^{135,207} Therefore, based on the extensive documentation in the literature and the results of our study, sleep questionnaires should not be used clinically as screening or diagnostic tools for pediatric OSA in DS and obese populations.

This study has presented many important and novel findings, however, while considering the significance of these results, it is also important to discuss the limitations of our

82

investigation. Firstly, our study included a small sample size, which limited the extent of testing that could be applied to the data. A larger sample would have allowed for stronger parametric statistical testing and multiple logistic regression modelling to be performed. Because the participants were recruited from the Hospital for Sick Children, a tertiary referral hospital, the effect of referral bias limits the generalizability of these results to large population groups. However, the referral population is that which may be greatly affected by their comorbidities, allowing for clear distinction and detection of predictors for OSA. Long term follow up which could include multiple time points would be helpful to see the changes in growth in these children over time and their relationship with changes in OSA severity. However, a longitudinal study would potentially suffer from loss to follow up and drop outs. On the lateral cephalogram radiographs, there was partial obstruction of the airway and hyoid bone from the lead apron and thyroid collar, making it impossible to apply certain cephalometric analyses, such as McNamara's upper and lower pharyngeal airway analysis.²⁰⁸ However, departmental guidelines and the principles of ALARA were followed for the benefit of these patients. It may be beneficial to analyze the craniofacial skeleton in 3 dimensions with CT or CBCT scans, which could also provide insight on airway and soft tissue volumes. Soft tissue measurements on traditional two-dimensional lateral cephalograms are unreliable as there are many magnification errors and superimposition makes measurements inaccurate.²⁰⁹ However, there may be additional concerns with the increased radiation that is inherent to CT and CBCT scans. Lateral cephalograms and CBCT scans are taken in a sitting or standing posture, which may not precisely reflect the skeletal relations that are in effect during sleep in the supine position. Lastly, all of the orthodontic examinations and cephalometric measurements were performed by a single clinician, which may result in the introduction of observer bias into our study results.

Having at least two clinicians performing a standardized systematic orthodontic examination would help mitigate this effect. Nonetheless, the ICC for each of the cephalometric measurements between both time points, showed excellent agreement, indicating that these cephalometric measurements are both reproducible and accurate. Additionally, we incorporated objective cephalometric measurements in addition to our clinical examination to confirm the dentofacial and craniofacial features identified during the clinical examinations.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

Based on our results, OSA in children with DS is associated with maxillary dimensions. Upper incisor position and maxillo-mandibular relationships are associated with OSA in children with Obesity. Our study provides a good foundation for future studies that may utilize craniofacial analysis as it is the first to describe reproducible clinical and cephalometric measures that can be used to predict PSG verified OSA in DS and obese pediatric populations. Future studies could include a longitudinal study design that measures the presence and/or severity of OSA over time as a child grows, with lateral cephalograms taken at regular intervals. This would strengthen our understanding of the pathophysiology of OSA as it relates to craniofacial growth and development, which is currently lacking in the pediatric literature. Furthermore, the effects of treatment modalities such as adenotonsillectomy and PAP therapy on craniofacial morphology and development in the pediatric population may influence clinical decisions. Due to the multi-factorial nature of OSA, collaboration between sleep medicine physicians, orthodontists, and other health professionals may facilitate the diagnosis and management of OSA in children.

Appendix A

Pediatric Sleep Questionnaire: Sleep-Disordered Breathing Subscale¹²⁷

Child's Name:		
Person completing form:	3.	

Study ID #: _____ Date: ____ / ___ /

Please answer these questions regarding the behavior of your child during sleep and wakefulness. The questions apply to how your child acts in general during the past month, not necessarily during the past few days since these may not have been typical if your child has not been well. You should circle the correct response or *print* your answers neatly in the space provided. A "Y" means "yes," "N" means "no," and "DK" means "don't know."

1.	WHILE SLEEPING, DOES YOUR CHILD:			
	Snore more than half the time?	Ν	DK	A2
	Always snore?	Ν	DK	A3
	Snore loudly?	Ν	DK	A4
	Have "heavy" or loud breathing?	Ν	DK	A5
	Have trouble breathing, or struggle to breathe?	N	DK	A6
2	HAVE YOU EVER SEEN YOUR CHILD STOP BREATHING DURING		٠	
2.	THE NIGHT? Y	N	DK	Δ7
		1,		11,
3.	DOES YOUR CHILD:		*	
	Tend to breathe through the mouth during the day?	Ν	DK	A24
	Have a dry mouth on waking up in the morning?	N	DK	A25
	Occasionally wet the bed?	N	DK	A32
4.	DOES YOUR CHILD:			
	Wake up feeling unrefreshed in the morning?	Ν	DK	B1
	Have a problem with sleepiness during the day?	N	DK	B2
5.	HAS A TEACHER OR OTHER SUPERVISOR COMMENTED THAT YOUR			
	CHILD APPEARS SLEEPY DURING THE DAY?	Ν	DK	B4
6.	IS IT HARD TO WAKE YOUR CHILD UP IN THE MORNING?	Ν	DK	B6
			÷	
7.	DOES YOUR CHILD WAKE UP WITH HEADACHES IN THE MORNING?Y	Ν	DK	B7
				Sciences (Nucl
8.	DID YOUR CHILD STOP GROWING AT A NORMAL RATE AT			
	ANY TIME SINCE BIRTH?Y	Ν	DK	B9
			(±)	
9.	IS YOUR CHILD OVERWEIGHT?Y	Ν	DK	B22
10.	THIS CHILD OFTEN:			
	Does not seem to listen when spoken to directlyY	Ν	DK	C3
	Has difficulty organizing tasks and activitiesY	Ν	DK	C5
	Is easily distracted by extraneous stimuliY	Ν	DK	C8
	Fidgets with hands or feet or squirms in seatY	Ν	DK	C10
	Is "on the go" or often acts as if "driven by a motor"Y	Ν	DK ·	C14
	Interrupts or intrudes on others (eg., butts into conversations or games)	Ν	DK	C18

Appendix B

Spruyt and Gozal Sleep Questionnaire¹³⁶

Last Name:		First Name:			
Gender: F	М	Date of birth: Month	_ Day	_Year	Age:

Over the last 6 months: *Please mark each of the following items.*

	Never	Rare (1 night/week)	Occasional (2 nights/week)	Frequent (3-4 nights/week)	Almost Always (>4 nights/week)
1) Do you ever shake your child to make him/her breathe again when asleep?					
2) Does your child stop breathing during sleep?					
3) Does your child struggle to breathe while asleep?					
4) Are you ever concerned about your child's breathing?					
	Hardly Noticeable	Moderately Strong	Strong	Very Strong	Extremely Strong
5) How loud is your child snore?					
	Never	Rare (1 night/week)	Occasional (2 nights/week)	Frequent (3-4 nights/week)	Almost Always (>4 nights/week)
6) How often does your child snore?					

Bibliography

- 1. Tauman R, Gozal D. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in children. *Expert Review of Respiratory Medicine*. 2011;5(3):425-440.
- 2. American Academy of Pediatrics. Clinical practice guideline: diagnosis and management of childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. 2002(1098-4275 (Electronic)).
- 3. Marcus CL, Brooks LJ, Draper KA, et al. Diagnosis and management of childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Pediatrics*. 2012;130(3):576-584.
- 4. Society AT. Standards and indications for cardiopulmonary sleep studies in children. American Thoracic Society. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 1996;153(2):866-878.
- 5. Guilleminault C, Eldridge FL, Simmons FB, Dement WC. Sleep apnea in eight children. *Pediatrics*. 1976;58(1):23-30.
- 6. Thorpy MJ. Classification of sleep disorders. 2012(1878-7479 (Electronic)).
- 7. American Academy of Sleep M. International classification of sleep disorders. *Diagnostic and coding manual.* 2005:51-55.
- 8. American Academy of Sleep M. International classification of sleep disorders-third edition (ICSD-3). *Darien, IL: American Academy of Sleep Medicine*. 2014.
- 9. Gozal D, O'Brien LM. Snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea in children: Why should we treat? *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*. 2004;5(SUPPL. A):S371-S376.
- 10. Berry RB, Brooks R, Gamaldo C, et al. The AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events: Rules, Terminology and Technical Specifications. Version 2.4. In. Darien, IL: American Academy of Sleep Medicine 2017.
- 11. Lumeng JC, Chervin RD. Epidemiology of pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*. 2008;5(2):242-252.
- 12. Bixler EO, Vgontzas AN, Lin HM, et al. Sleep disordered breathing in children in a general population sample: Prevalence and risk factors. *Sleep*. 2009;32(6):731-736.
- 13. Li AM, So HK, Au CT, et al. Epidemiology of obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome in Chinese children: A two-phase community study. *Thorax.* 2010;65(11):991-997.
- 14. O'Brien LM, Holbrook CR, Mervis CB, et al. Sleep and neurobehavioral characteristics of 5- to 7-year-old children with parentally reported symptoms of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Pediatrics*. 2003;111(3):554-563.
- 15. Wing YK, Hui SH, Pak WM, et al. A controlled study of sleep related disordered breathing in obese children. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*. 2003;88(12):1043-1047.
- 16. Sinha D, Guilleminault C. Sleep disordered breathing in children. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*. 2010;131(2):311-320.
- 17. Redline S, Tishler PV, Schluchter M, Aylor J, Clark K, Graham G. Risk factors for sleepdisordered breathing in children: Associations with obesity, race, and respiratory problems. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 1999;159(5 I):1527-1532.
- Sogut A, Altin R, Uzun L, et al. Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and associated symptoms in 3-11-year-old Turkish children. *Pediatric Pulmonology*. 2005;39(3):251-256.
- Sánchez-Armengol A, Fuentes-Pradera MA, Capote-Gil F, et al. Sleep-related breathing disorders in adolescents aged 12 to 16 years: Clinical and polygraphic findings. *Chest.* 2001;119(5):1393-1400.

- 20. Ong KC, Clerk AA. Comparison of the severity of sleep-disordered breathing in Asian and Caucasian patients seen at a sleep disorders center. *Respiratory Medicine*. 1998;92(6):843-848.
- 21. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Guo SS, et al. 2000 CDC Growth Charts for the United States: methods and development. *Vital Health Stat 11*. 2002(246):1-190.
- 22. Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*. 2014;384(9945):766-781.
- 23. Rodd C, Sharma AK. Recent trends in the prevalence of overweight and obesity among Canadian children. *CMAJ*. 2016;188(13):E313-E320.
- 24. Skinner AC, Ravanbakht SN, Skelton JA, Perrin EM, Armstrong SC. Prevalence of Obesity and Severe Obesity in US Children, 1999-2016. *Pediatrics*. 2018.
- 25. Skinner AC, Perrin EM, Skelton JA. Prevalence of obesity and severe obesity in US children, 1999-2014. *Obesity*. 2016;24(5):1116-1123.
- 26. Freedman DS, Mei Z, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS, Dietz WH. Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Excess Adiposity Among Overweight Children and Adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 2007;150(1):12-17.e12.
- 27. Daniels SR, Arnett DK, Eckel RH, et al. Overweight in children and adolescents: Pathophysiology, consequences, prevention, and treatment. *Circulation*. 2005;111(15):1999-2012.
- 28. Guo SS, Huang C, Maynard LM, et al. Body mass index during childhood, adolescence and young adulthood in relation to adult overweight and adiposity: The Fels Longitudinal Study. *International Journal of Obesity*. 2000;24(12):1628-1635.
- 29. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Mei Z, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. Relation of childhood height to obesity among adults: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*. 2002;109(2).
- 30. Benjamin RM. The surgeon general's vision for a healthy and fit nation. *Public Health Reports*. 2010;125(4):514-515.
- 31. Sadeghianrizi A, Forsberg CM, Marcus C, Dahllöf G. Craniofacial development in obese adolescents. *European Journal of Orthodontics*. 2005;27(6):550-555.
- 32. Nam SY, Marcus C. Growth hormone and adipocyte function in obesity. *Hormone Research in Paediatrics*. 2000;53(Suppl. 1):87-97.
- 33. Thilander B. Basic mechanisms in craniofacial growth. *Acta Odontologica Scandinavica*. 1995;53(3):144-151.
- 34. Van Limborgh J. Factors controlling skeletal morphogenesis. *Progress in clinical and biological research*. 1982;101:1.
- 35. Öhrn K, Al-Kahlili B, Huggare J, Forsberg C-M, Marcus C, Dahllöf G. Craniofacial morphology in obese adolescents. *Acta Odontologica Scandinavica*. 2002;60(4):193-197.
- 36. Arumugam A, Raja K, Venugopalan M, et al. Down syndrome—A narrative review with a focus on anatomical features. *Clinical Anatomy*. 2016;29(5):568-577.
- 37. Fitzgerald P, Leonard H, Pikora TJ, Bourke J, Hammond G. Hospital Admissions in Children with Down Syndrome: Experience of a Population-Based Cohort Followed from Birth. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8(8).
- 38. Rahul VK, Mathew C, Jose S, Thomas G, Noushad MC, Feroz TP. Oral manifestation in mentally challenged children. *J Int Oral Health*. 2015;7(2):37-41.

- 39. Maris M, Wojciechowski M, Van de Heyning P, Boudewyns A. A cross-sectional analysis of otitis media with effusion in children with Down syndrome. *European Journal of Pediatrics*. 2014;173(10):1319-1325.
- 40. Shukla D, Bablani D, Chowdhry A, Thapar R, Gupta P, Mishra S. Dentofacial and cranial changes in down syndrome. *Osong Public Health Res Perspect*. 2014;5(6):339-344.
- 41. Suri S, Tompson BD, Atenafu E. Prevalence and patterns of permanent tooth agenesis in Down syndrome and their association with craniofacial morphology. *Angle Orthodontist*. 2011;81(2):260-269.
- 42. Suri S, Tompson BD, Cornfoot L. Cranial base, maxillary and mandibular morphology in Down syndrome. *Angle Orthodontist.* 2010;80(5):861-869.
- 43. Dempsey JA, Veasey SC, Morgan BJ, O'Donnell CP. Pathophysiology of sleep apnea. *Physiological Reviews*. 2010;90(1):47-112.
- 44. White DP. Pathogenesis of obstructive and central sleep apnea. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2005;172(11):1363-1370.
- 45. Ioachimescu OC, Collop NA. Sleep-Disordered Breathing. *Neurologic Clinics*. 2012;30(4):1095-1136.
- 46. Haponik EF, Smith PL, Bohlman ME, Allen RP, Goldman SM, Bleecker ER. Computerized tomography in obstructive sleep apnea. Correlation of airway size with physiology during sleep and wakefulness. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*. 1983;127(2):221-226.
- 47. Schwab RJ, Kim C, Bagchi S, et al. Understanding the anatomic basis for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in adolescents. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2015;191(11):1295-1309.
- 48. Arens R, McDonough JM, Costarino AT, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the upper airway structure of children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2001;164(4):698-703.
- 49. Schiffman PH, Rubin NK, Dominguez T, et al. Mandibular dimensions in children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep.* 2004;27(5):959-965.
- 50. Arens R, McDonough JM, Corbin AM, et al. Upper airway size analysis by magnetic resonance imaging of children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2003;167(1):65-70.
- 51. Ni LY, Zhou YH, Cai XH, et al. [Magnetic resonance imaging of the upper airway structure of children with sleep disordered breathing]. *Zhonghua er bi yan hou tou jing wai ke za zhi = Chinese journal of otorhinolaryngology head and neck surgery*. 2007;42(2):104-108.
- 52. Marcus CL, Moore RH, Rosen CL, et al. A randomized trial of adenotonsillectomy for childhood sleep apnea. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2013;368(25):2366-2376.
- 53. Katz ES, D'Ambrosio CM. Pathophysiology of pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*. 2008;5(2):253-262.
- 54. Löfstrand-Tideström B, Thilander B, Ahlqvist-Rastad J, Jakobsson O, Hultcrantz E. Breathing obstruction in relation to craniofacial and dental arch morphology in 4-year-old children. *European Journal of Orthodontics*. 1999;21(4):323-332.
- 55. Kawashima S, Niikuni N, Chia-hung L, et al. Cephalometric comparisons of craniofacial and upper airway structures in young children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Ear, Nose and Throat Journal.* 2000;79(7):499-502.

- 56. Behlfelt K, Linder-aronson S, McWilliam J, Neander P, Laage-Hellman J. Cranio-facial morphology in children with and without enlarged tonsils. *European Journal of Orthodontics*. 1990;12(3):233-243.
- 57. Zettergren-Wijk L, Forsberg CM, Linder-Aronson S. Changes in dentofacial morphology after adeno-/tonsillectomy in young children with obstructive sleep apnoea A 5-year follow-up study. *European Journal of Orthodontics*. 2006;28(4):319-326.
- 58. Özdemir H, Altin R, Söğüt A, et al. Craniofacial differences according to AHI scores of children with obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome: Cephalometric study in 39 patients. *Pediatric Radiology*. 2004;34(5):393-399.
- 59. Katyal V, Pamula Y, Martin AJ, Daynes CN, Kennedy JD, Sampson WJ. Craniofacial and upper airway morphology in pediatric sleep-disordered breathing: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop.* 2013;143(1):20-30.e23.
- 60. Huynh NT, Morton PD, Rompré PH, Papadakis A, Remise C. Associations between sleep-disordered breathing symptoms and facial and dental morphometry, assessed with screening examinations. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*. 2011;140(6):762-770.
- 61. Flores-Mir C, Korayem M, Heo G, Witmans M, Major MP, Major PW. Craniofacial morphological characteristics in children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Dental Association*. 2013;144(3):269-277.
- 62. Gold AR, Schwartz AR. The pharyngeal critical pressure. The whys and hows of using nasal continuous positive airway pressure diagnostically. *Chest.* 1996;110(4):1077-1088.
- 63. Gold AR, Marcus CL, Dipalo F, Gold MS. Upper airway collapsibility during sleep in upper airway resistance syndrome. *Chest.* 2002;121(5):1531-1540.
- 64. Goh DYT, Galster P, Marcus CL. Sleep architecture and respiratory disturbances in children with obstructive sleep apnea. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2000;162(2 I):682-686.
- 65. Horner RL. Pathophysiology of obstructive sleep apnea. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev.* 2008;28(5):289-298.
- 66. Katz ES, White DP. Genioglossus activity in children with obstructive sleep apnea during wakefulness and sleep onset. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2003;168(6 I):664-670.
- 67. Katz ES, White DP. Genioglossus activity during sleep in normal control subjects and children with obstructive sleep apnea. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2004;170(5):553-560.
- 68. Marcus CL, Moreira GA, Bamford O, Lutz J. Response to inspiratory resistive loading during sleep in normal children and children with obstructive apnea. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 1999;87(4):1448-1454.
- 69. Goldbart AD, Tal A. Inflammation and sleep disordered breathing in children: A state-of-the-art review. *Pediatric Pulmonology*. 2008;43(12):1151-1160.
- 70. Gozal D, Kheirandish L. Oxidant stress and inflammation in the snoring child: Confluent pathways to upper airway pathogenesis and end-organ morbidity. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*. 2006;10(2):83-96.
- 71. Peters-Golden M, Henderson WR, Jr. Leukotrienes. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;357(18):1841-1854.

- 72. Goldbart AD, Veling MC, Goldman JL, Li RC, Brittian KR, Gozal D. Glucocorticoid receptor subunit expression in adenotonsillar tissue of children with obstructive sleep apnea. *Pediatric Research*. 2005;57(2):232-236.
- 73. Brouillette RT, Manoukian JJ, Ducharme FM, et al. Efficacy of fluticasone nasal spray for pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 2001;138(6):838-844.
- 74. Goldbart AD, Goldman JL, Veling MC, Gozal D. Leukotriene modifier therapy for mild sleep-disordered breathing in children. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2005;172(3):364-370.
- 75. Kheirandish L, Goldbart AD, Gozal D. Intranasal steroids and oral leukotriene modifier therapy in residual sleep-disordered breathing after tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy in children. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(1):e61-e66.
- 76. Kheirandish-Gozal L, Bhattacharjee R, Bandla HPR, Gozal D. Antiinflammatory therapy outcomes for mild OSA in children. *Chest.* 2014;146(1):88-95.
- 77. Gozal D, Serpero LD, Sans Capdevila O, Kheirandish-Gozal L. Systemic inflammation in non-obese children with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Medicine*. 2008;9(3):254-259.
- 78. Li AM, Chan MH, Yin J, et al. C-reactive protein in children with obstructive sleep apnea and the effects of treatment. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2008;43(1):34-40.
- 79. Verma S, Kuliszewski MA, Li SH, et al. C-Reactive Protein Attenuates Endothelial Progenitor Cell Survival, Differentiation, and Function: Further Evidence of a Mechanistic Link between C-Reactive Protein and Cardiovascular Disease. *Circulation*. 2004;109(17):2058-2067.
- 80. Punjabi NM, Shahar E, Redline S, Gottlieb DJ, Givelber R, Resnick HE. Sleepdisordered breathing, glucose intolerance, and insulin resistance: the Sleep Heart Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2004;160(6):521-530.
- 81. Kato M, Roberts-Thomson P, Phillips BG, et al. Impairment of endothelium-dependent vasodilation of resistance vessels in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Circulation*. 2000;102(21):2607-2610.
- 82. Al-Ghamdi SA, Manoukian JJ, Morielli A, Oudjhane K, Ducharme FM, Brouillette RT. Do systemic corticosteroids effectively treat obstructive sleep apnea secondary to adenotonsillar hypertrophy? *Laryngoscope*. 1997;107(10):1382-1387.
- 83. Gozal D, Kheirandish-Gozal L. Childhood obesity and sleep: Relatives, partners, or both?-a critical perspective on the evidence. In. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. Vol 12642012:135-141.
- 84. Young T, Palta M, Dempsey J, Skatrud J, Weber S, Badr S. The occurrence of sleepdisordered breathing among middle-aged adults. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;328(17):1230-1235.
- 85. Andersen IG, Holm JC, Homøe P. Obstructive sleep apnea in obese children and adolescents, treatment methods and outcome of treatment A systematic review. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*. 2016;87:190-197.
- 86. Tauman R, Serpero LD, Capdevila OS, et al. Adipokines in children with sleep disordered breathing. *Sleep*. 2007;30(4):443-449.
- 87. Spruyt K, Capdevila OS, Serpero LD, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Gozal D. Dietary and Physical Activity Patterns in Children with Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 2010;156(5):724-730.e723.
- 88. Shechter A. Obstructive sleep apnea and energy balance regulation: A systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2017;34:59-69.

- 89. Indriksone I, Jakobsone G. The influence of craniofacial morphology on the upper airway dimensions. *Angle Orthodontist.* 2015;85(5):874-880.
- 90. Strobel RJ, Rosen RC. Obesity and weight loss in obstructive sleep apnea: A critical review. *Sleep.* 1996;19(2):104-115.
- 91. Arens R, Muzumdar H. Childhood obesity and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Journal of Applied Physiology*. 2010;108(2):436-444.
- 92. Arens R, Sin S, Nandalike K, et al. Upper airway structure and body fat composition in obese children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2011;183(6):782-787.
- 93. Costa DJ, Mitchell R. Adenotonsillectomy for obstructive sleep apnea in obese children: A meta-analysis. *Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*. 2009;140(4):455-460.
- 94. Mitchell RB, Kelly J. Outcome of adenotonsillectomy for obstructive sleep apnea in obese and normal-weight children. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery*. 2007;137(1):43-48.
- 95. Nandalike K, Shifteh K, Sin S, et al. Adenotonsillectomy in obese children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: Magnetic resonance imaging findings and considerations. *Sleep.* 2013;36(6):841-847.
- 96. Horner RL, Mohiaddin RH, Lowell DG, et al. Sites and sizes of fat deposits around the pharynx in obese patients with obstructive sleep apnoea and weight matched controls. *European Respiratory Journal*. 1989;2(7):613-622.
- 97. MacLean JE, DeHaan K, Chowdhury T, et al. The scope of sleep problems in Canadian children and adolescents with obesity. *Sleep Med.* 2018;47:44-50.
- 98. De la Eva RC, Baur LA, Donaghue KC, Waters KA. Metabolic correlates with obstructive sleep apnea in obese subjects. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 2002;140(6):654-659.
- 99. Koren D, Gozal D, Bhattacharjee R, Philby MF, Kheirandish-Gozal L. Impact of adenotonsillectomy on insulin resistance and lipoprotein profile in nonobese and obese children. *Chest.* 2016;149(4):999-1010.
- 100. Koren D, Gozal D, Philby MF, Bhattacharjee R, Kheirandish-Gozal L. Impact of obstructive sleep apnoea on insulin resistance in nonobese and obese children. *European Respiratory Journal*. 2016;47(4):1152-1161.
- 101. Lal C, White DR, Joseph JE, Van Bakergem K, LaRosa A. Sleep-disordered breathing in down syndrome. *Chest.* 2015;147(2):570-579.
- 102. Austeng ME, Øverland B, Kværner KJ, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea in younger school children with Down syndrome. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*. 2014;78(7):1026-1029.
- 103. Maris M, Verhulst S, Wojciechowski M, Van de Heyning P, Boudewyns A. Prevalence of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Children with Down Syndrome. *Sleep.* 2016;39(3):699-704.
- Lee CF, Lee CH, Hsueh WY, Lin MT, Kang KT. Prevalence of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Children With Down Syndrome: A Meta-Analysis. *J Clin Sleep Med.* 2018;14(5):867-875.
- 105. Shott SR, Amin R, Chini B, Heubi C, Hotze S, Akers R. Obstructive sleep apnea: Should all children with Down syndrome be tested? *Archives of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery*. 2006;132(4):432-436.
- 106. Trois MS, Capone GT, Lutz JA, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea in adults with Down syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*. 2009;5(4):317-323.

- 107. Marcus CL, Keens TG, Bautista DB, Von Pechmann WS, Ward SLD. Obstructive sleep apnea in children with Down syndrome. *Pediatrics*. 1991;88(1):132-139.
- 108. Shott SR. Down syndrome: Common otolaryngologic manifestations. *American Journal* of Medical Genetics, Part C: Seminars in Medical Genetics. 2006;142(3):131-140.
- 109. Uong EC, McDonough JM, Tayag-Kier CE, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging of the upper airway in children with Down syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2001;163(3 Pt 1):731-736.
- 110. Basil JS, Santoro SL, Martin LJ, Healy KW, Chini BA, Saal HM. Retrospective study of obesity in children with down syndrome. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 2016;173:143-148.
- 111. Skotko BG, Macklin EA, Muselli M, et al. A predictive model for obstructive sleep apnea and Down syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part A.* 2017;173(4):889-896.
- 112. Mallampati SR, Gatt SP, Gugino LD, et al. A clinical sign to predict difficult tracheal intubation: a prospective study. *Can Anaesth Soc J.* 1985;32(4):429-434.
- 113. Kario K. Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and hypertension: ambulatory blood pressure. *Hypertens Res.* 2009;32(6):428-432.
- 114. Suzuki M, Guilleminault C, Otsuka K, Shiomi T. Blood pressure "dipping" and "nondipping" in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome patients. *Sleep*. 1996;19(5):382-387.
- 115. Maeda K, Tsuiki S, Nakata S, Suzuki K, Itoh E, Inoue Y. Craniofacial contribution to residual obstructive sleep apnea after adenotonsillectomy in children: a preliminary study. *J Clin Sleep Med.* 2014;10(9):973-977.
- 116. Hoshide S, Kario K, Hoshide Y, et al. Associations between nondipping of nocturnal blood pressure decrease and cardiovascular target organ damage in strictly selected community-dwelling normotensives. *Am J Hypertens*. 2003;16(6):434-438.
- 117. Seif F, Patel SR, Walia HK, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea and diurnal nondipping hemodynamic indices in patients at increased cardiovascular risk. *J Hypertens*. 2014;32(2):267-275.
- 118. Floras JS. Hypertension and Sleep Apnea. Can J Cardiol. 2015;31(7):889-897.
- 119. Freezer NJ, Bucens IK, Robertson CF. Obstructive sleep apnoea presenting as failure to thrive in infancy. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*. 1995;31(3):172-175.
- 120. Selimoğlu E, Selimoğlu MA, Orbak Z. Does adenotonsillectomy improve growth in children with obstructive adenotonsillar hypertrophy? *Journal of International Medical Research*. 2003;31(2):84-87.
- 121. Koycu A, Aydin E, Tulgar Kinik S. Changes in body composition and growth pattern after adenotonsillectomy in prepubertal children. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol.* 2016;81:46-50.
- 122. Goldstein NA, Fatima M, Campbell TF, Rosenfeld RM. Child behavior and quality of life before and after tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy. *Archives of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery*. 2002;128(7):770-775.
- 123. Tarasiuk A, Greenberg-Dotan S, Simon-Tuval T, et al. Elevated morbidity and health care use in children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2007;175(1):55-61.
- 124. Rosen CL. Clinical features of obstructive sleep apnea hypoventilation syndrome in otherwise healthy children. *Pediatric Pulmonology*. 1999;27(6):403-409.

- 125. Preuthipan A, Chantarojanasiri T, Suwanjutha S, Udomsubpayakul U. Can parents predict the severity of childhood obstructive sleep apnoea? *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics.* 2000;89(6):708-712.
- 126. Chervin RD, Weatherly RA, Garetz SL, et al. Pediatric sleep questionnaire: Prediction of sleep apnea and outcomes. *Archives of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery*. 2007;133(3):216-222.
- 127. Chervin RD, Hedger K, Dillon JE, Pituch KJ. Pediatric sleep questionnaire (PSQ): Validity and reliability of scales for sleep-disordered breathing, snoring, sleepiness, and behavioral problems. *Sleep Medicine*. 2000;1(1):21-32.
- 128. Brooks LJ, Stephens BM, Bacevice AM. Adenoid size is related to severity but not the number of episodes of obstructive apnea in children. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 1998;132(4):682-686.
- Chervin RD, Hedger Archbold K, Dillon JE, et al. Associations between symptoms of inattention, hyperactivity, restless legs, and periodic leg movements. *Sleep*. 2002;25(2):213-218.
- 130. Katz ES, D'Ambrosio CM. Pediatric obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Clinics in Chest Medicine*. 2010;31(2):221-234.
- 131. Huang YS, Guilleminault C, Li HY, Yang CM, Wu YY, Chen NH. Attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder with obstructive sleep apnea: A treatment outcome study. *Sleep Medicine*. 2007;8(1):18-30.
- 132. Brooks LJ, Topol HI. Enuresis in children with sleep apnea. *Journal of Pediatrics*. 2003;142(5):515-518.
- 133. Tsubomatsu C, Shintani T, Abe A, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in children. In. *Advances in Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*. Vol 772016:105-111.
- 134. Brouilette R, Hanson D, David R, et al. A diagnostic approach to suspected obstructive sleep apnea in children. *J Pediatr*. 1984;105(1):10-14.
- 135. Schechter MS. Technical report: diagnosis and management of childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Pediatrics*. 2002;109(4).
- 136. Spruyt K, Gozal D. Screening of pediatric sleep-disordered breathing: A proposed unbiased discriminative set of questions using clinical severity scales. *Chest.* 2012;142(6):1508-1515.
- 137. De Luca Canto G, Singh V, Major MP, et al. Diagnostic capability of questionnaires and clinical examinations to assess sleep-disordered breathing in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Dental Association*. 2014;145(2):165-178.
- 138. Beck SE, Marcus CL. Pediatric Polysomnography. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*. 2009;4(3):393-406.
- 139. Katz SL, Witmans M, Barrowman N, et al. Paediatric sleep resources in Canada: The scope of the problem. 2014(1205-7088 (Print)).
- 140. Broadbent BH. A new x-ray technique and its application to orthodontia. *The Angle Orthodontist.* 1931;1(2):45-66.
- 141. Steiner CC. Cephalometrics for you and me. *American Journal of Orthodontics*. 1953;39(10):729-755.
- 142. Downs WB. The role of cephalometrics in orthodontic case analysis and diagnosis. *American Journal of Orthodontics*. 1952;38(3):162-182.

- 143. Jacobson A. The "Wits" appraisal of jaw disharmony. *American journal of orthodontics*. 1975;67(2):125-138.
- 144. Harvold EP. Cephalometric roentgenography in the study of cleft lip and palate. Congenital Anomalies of the Face and Associated Structures Springfield: Charles C Thomas. 1961:329-336.
- 145. Tweed CH. The Frankfort-mandibular incisor angle (FMIA) in orthodontic diagnosis, treatment planning and prognosis. *The Angle Orthodontist*. 1954;24(3):121-169.
- 146. Proffit WR, Fields Jr HW, Sarver DM. *Contemporary Orthodontics*. 5th Edition ed: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2013.
- 147. Björk A. The use of metallic implants in the study of facial growth in children: method and application. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*. 1968;29(2):243-254.
- 148. Baccetti T, Franchi L, McNamara Jr JA. An improved version of the cervical vertebral maturation (CVM) method for the assessment of mandibular growth. *The Angle Orthodontist*. 2002;72(4):316-323.
- 149. Luzzi V, Di Carlo G, Saccucci M, et al. Craniofacial morphology and airflow in children with primary snoring. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* 2016;20(19):3965-3971.
- 150. Katyal V, Pamula Y, Daynes CN, et al. Craniofacial and upper airway morphology in pediatric sleep-disordered breathing and changes in quality of life with rapid maxillary expansion. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*. 2013;144(6):860-871.
- Laxmi NV, Talla H, Meesala D, Soujanya S, Naomi N, Poosa M. Importance of cephalographs in diagnosis of patients with sleep apnea. *Contemp Clin Dent*. 2015;6(Suppl 1):S221-226.
- 152. Neelapu BC, Kharbanda OP, Sardana HK, et al. Craniofacial and upper airway morphology in adult obstructive sleep apnea patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cephalometric studies. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2017;31:79-90.
- 153. Li HY, Lee LA. Sleep-disordered breathing in children. *Chang Gung Med J.* 2009;32(3):247-257.
- 154. Marcus CL. Sleep-disordered breathing in children. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2001;164(1):16-30.
- 155. Friedman M, Wilson M, Lin HC, Chang HW. Updated systematic review of tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy for treatment of pediatric obstructive sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome. *Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*. 2009;140(6):800-808.
- 156. Lim J, McKean MC. Adenotonsillectomy for obstructive sleep apnoea in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2009(2):Cd003136.
- 157. Guilleminault C, Partinen M, Praud JP, Quera-Salva MA, Powell N, Riley R. Morphometric facial changes and obstructive sleep apnea in adolescents. *The Journal of Pediatrics*. 1989;114(6):997-999.
- 158. Tasker C, Crosby JH, Stradling JR. Evidence for persistence of upper airway narrowing during sleep, 12 years after adenotonsillectomy. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*. 2002;86(1):34-37.
- 159. Guilleminault C, Li K, Quo S, Inouye RN. A prospective study on the surgical outcomes of children with sleep-disordered breathing. *Sleep.* 2004;27(1):95-100.

- 160. Bhattacharjee R, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Spruyt K, et al. Adenotonsillectomy outcomes in treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in children: A multicenter retrospective study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2010;182(5):676-683.
- 161. Engleman HM, Wild MR. Improving CPAP use by patients with the sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome (SAHS). 2003(1087-0792 (Print)).
- 162. Marcus CL, Rosen G, Ward SL, et al. Adherence to and effectiveness of positive airway pressure therapy in children with obstructive sleep apnea. *Pediatrics*. 2006;117(3):e442-451.
- 163. Machaalani R, Evans CA, Waters KA. Objective adherence to positive airway pressure therapy in an Australian paediatric cohort. *Sleep Breath*. 2016;20(4):1327-1336.
- 164. Guilleminault C, Abad VC. Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Curr Treat Options Neurol*. 2004;6(4):309-317.
- 165. DiFeo N, Meltzer LJ, Beck SE, et al. Predictors of positive airway pressure therapy adherence in children: A prospective study. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*. 2012;8(3):279-286.
- 166. Jacobsen AR, Eriksen F, Hansen RW, et al. Determinants for adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy in obstructive sleep apnea. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(12):e0189614.
- 167. Amin R, Al-Saleh S, Narang I. Domiciliary noninvasive positive airway pressure therapy in children. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2016;51(4):335-348.
- 168. Villa MP, Pagani J, Ambrosio R, Ronchetti R, Bernkopf E. Mid-face hypoplasia after long-term nasal ventilation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2002;166(8):1142-1143.
- 169. Li KK, Riley RW, Guilleminault C. An unreported risk in the use of home nasal continuous positive airway pressure and home nasal ventilation in children: Mid-face hypoplasia. *Chest.* 2000;117(3):916-918.
- 170. Korayem MM, Witmans M, MacLean J, et al. Craniofacial morphology in pediatric patients with persistent obstructive sleep apnea with or without positive airway pressure therapy: A cross-sectional cephalometric comparison with controls. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*. 2013;144(1):78-85.
- 171. Guilleminault C, Huang YS. From oral facial dysfunction to dysmorphism and the onset of pediatric OSA. *Sleep Med Rev.* 2017.
- 172. Ngiam J, Cistulli PA. Dental Treatment for Paediatric Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews*. 2015;16(3):174-181.
- 173. Larsen AJ, Rindal DB, Hatch JP, et al. Evidence supports no relationship between obstructive sleep apnea and premolar extraction: An electronic health records review. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*. 2015;11(12):1443-1448.
- 174. Warren DW, Hershey G, Turvey TA, Hinton VA, Hairfield WM. The nasal airway following maxillary expansion. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*. 1987;91(2):111-116.
- 175. Zhao Y, Nguyen M, Gohl E, Mah JK, Sameshima G, Enciso R. Oropharyngeal airway changes after rapid palatal expansion evaluated with cone-beam computed tomography. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*. 2010;137(4 SUPPL.):S71-S78.
- 176. Pirelli P, Saponara M, Guilleminault C. Rapid maxillary expansion in children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep.* 2004;27(4):761-766.

- 177. Pirelli P, Saponara M, Attanasio G. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Syndrome (OSAS) and rhino-tubaric disfunction in children: therapeutic effects of RME therapy. *Progress in orthodontics*. 2005;6(1):48-61.
- 178. Pirelli P, Saponara M, Guilleminault C. Rapid maxillary expansion (RME) for pediatric obstructive sleep apnea: A 12-year follow-up. *Sleep Medicine*. 2015;16(8):933-935.
- 179. Viva E, Stefini S, Annibale G, Pedercini R, Zucconi M, Strambi LF. Aspects of prevention of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in developing children. *Advances in oto-rhino-laryngology*. 1992;47:284-289.
- 180. Carvalho FR, Lentini-Oliveira DA, Prado LBF, Prado GF, Carvalho LBC. Oral appliances and functional orthopaedic appliances for obstructive sleep apnoea in children. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews.* 2016;2016(10).
- 181. Villa MP, Bernkopf E, Pagani J, Broia V, Montesano M, Ronchetti R. Randomized controlled study of an oral jaw-positioning appliance for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in children with malocclusion. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. 2002;165(1):123-127.
- 182. Ahn YM. Treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in children. *Korean J Pediatr*. 2010;53(10):872-879.
- 183. Linder-Aronson S. Adenoids. Their effect on mode of breathing and nasal airflow and their relationship to characteristics of the facial skeleton and the denition. A biometric, rhino-manometric and cephalometro-radiographic study on children with and without adenoids. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica, Supplement.* 1970;265:1-132.
- 184. Harvold EP, Tomer BS, Vargervik K, Chierici G. Primate experiments on oral respiration. *American Journal of Orthodontics*. 1981;79(4):359-372.
- 185. Vargervik K, Miller AJ, Chierici G, Harvold E, Tomer BS. Morphologic response to changes in neuromuscular patterns experimentally induced by altered modes of respiration. *American Journal of Orthodontics*. 1984;85(2):115-124.
- 186. Woodside DG, Linder-Aronson S, Lundström A, McWilliam J. Mandibular and maxillary growth after changed mode of breathing. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*. 1991;100(1):1-18.
- 187. Hultcrantz E, Larson M, Hellquist R, Ahlquist-Rastad J, Svanholm H, Jakobsson OP. The influence of tonsillar obstruction and tonsillectomy on facial growth and dental arch morphology. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*. 1991;22(2):125-134.
- 188. Sauer C, Schlüter B, Hinz R, Gesch D. Childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: An interdisciplinary approach: A prospective epidemiological study of 4,318 five-and-a-half-year-old children. *Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics*. 2012;73(5):342-358.
- 189. Pirila-Parkkinen K, Pirttiniemi P, Nieminen P, Tolonen U, Pelttari U, Löppönen H. Dental arch morphology in children with sleep-disordered breathing. *European Journal of Orthodontics*. 2009;31(2):160-167.
- 190. Ikavalko T, Tuomilehto H, Pahkala R, et al. Craniofacial morphology but not excess body fat is associated with risk of having sleep-disordered breathing--the PANIC Study (a questionnaire-based inquiry in 6-8-year-olds). *Eur J Pediatr.* 2012;171(12):1747-1752.
- 191. CDC. BMI Percentile Calculator for Child and Teen In.
- 192. Zemel BS, Pipan M, Stallings VA, et al. Growth Charts for Children With Down Syndrome in the United States. *Pediatrics*. 2015;136(5):e1204-1211.
- 193. Friedman M, Ibrahim H, Joseph NJ. Staging of obstructive sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome: a guide to appropriate treatment. *Laryngoscope*. 2004;114(3):454-459.
- 194. Shaw WC, Richmond S, O'Brien KD. The use of occlusal indices: a European perspective. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop.* 1995;107(1):1-10.
- 195. Enlow DH. The "V" principle. Am J Orthod. 1984;85(1):96.
- 196. Enlow DH. Facial growth and development. Int J Oral Myol. 1979;5(4):7-10.
- 197. Cheng MC, Enlow DH, Papsidero M, Broadbent BH, Jr., Oyen O, Sabat M. Developmental effects of impaired breathing in the face of the growing child. *Angle Orthod.* 1988;58(4):309-320.
- 198. Limbrock GJ, Fischer-Brandies H, Avalle C. Castillo-Morales' orofacial therapy: treatment of 67 children with Down syndrome. *Dev Med Child Neurol*. 1991;33(4):296-303.
- 199. Srinivasan B, Chitharanjan AB. Skeletal and dental characteristics in subjects with ankyloglossia. *Prog Orthod*. 2013;14:44.
- 200. Frohlich K, Ingervall B, Schmoker R. Influence of surgical tongue reduction on pressure from the tongue on the teeth. *Angle Orthod*. 1993;63(3):191-198.
- 201. Lowe AA, Fleetham JA, Adachi S, Ryan CF. Cephalometric and computed tomographic predictors of obstructive sleep apnea severity. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*. 1995;107(6):589-595.
- 202. Choi JK, Hur YK, Lee JM, Clark GT. Effects of mandibular advancement on upper airway dimension and collapsibility in patients with obstructive sleep apnea using dynamic upper airway imaging during sleep. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod*. 2010;109(5):712-719.
- 203. Subtelny JD. Oral respiration: facial maldevelopment and corrective dentofacial orthopedics. *Angle Orthod*. 1980;50(3):147-164.
- 204. Solow B, Siersbaek-Nielsen S, Greve E. Airway adequacy, head posture, and craniofacial morphology. *Am J Orthod.* 1984;86(3):214-223.
- 205. Gungor AY, Turkkahraman H, Yilmaz HH, Yariktas M. Cephalometric comparison of obstructive sleep apnea patients and healthy controls. *Eur J Dent.* 2013;7(1):48-54.
- 206. Faria PT, de Oliveira Ruellas AC, Matsumoto MA, Anselmo-Lima WT, Pereira FC. Dentofacial morphology of mouth breathing children. *Braz Dent J.* 2002;13(2):129-132.
- 207. Lin SC, Davey MJ, Horne RS, Nixon GM. Screening for obstructive sleep apnea in children with Down syndrome. *J Pediatr*. 2014;165(1):117-122.
- 208. McNamara JA. A method of cephalometric evaluation. *American journal of orthodontics*. 1984;86(6):449-469.
- 209. Seliem EN, Attia KH, Al-Hadithiy S, Mostafa YA. Soft tissue cephalometrics: an overdue evaluation. *World J Orthod*. 2009;10(4):301-304.